The Aging Population and Masking Requirements: A Qualitative Phenomenological Study

by

Tiffany Marie Mioduszewski

Liberty University

# The Aging Population and Masking Requirements: A Qualitative Phenomenological Study

By Tiffany M. Mioduszewski

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Traumatology

Liberty University, Lynchburg VA
2023

#### Abstract

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study is to understand the lived-experiences of individuals over 60 years old. This study was done to specifically understand psychological effects of adhering to protective measure put in place during the COVID-19 pandemic. A pandemic can be described as a global epidemic that has the ability to spread to other continents. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted thousands of people worldwide. There have been multiple preventative measures put in place for individuals to follow to reduce the spread of the virus. The mandates vary depending on the country and state in which an individual lives in. Many individuals' mental health has been impacted due to the mandates and preventative measures put in place in their communities. Individuals all over the world experienced some sort of change which may have impacted their lived experiences. More research in this area is needed to help individuals understand more about how preventative measures have the potential to alter a person's lived experiences. This research can be used to help understand how protective mandates impact individual's lived experiences to help people manage during future pandemics.

*Keywords:* pandemic, lived experiences, preventative mandates, COVID-19, mental health

# **Copyright Page**

© 2023, Tiffany Mioduszewski

## **Dedication**

I would like to dedicate my dissertation to my parents, Robert and Lisa Mioduszewski, who have always supported me and encouraged me to become anything I want to be. They not only set a perfect example of what it means to work hard, they instilled values that have gotten me where I am today. Without them I would have never been able to accomplish my dreams. I would also like to dedicate my dissertation to my children, because without them I would not have pushed myself to become all I can be.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my parents for their endless support in my life and educational journey. They have continued to provide support in times when I needed it most without question. They have also celebrated my accomplishments no matter how big or how small the accomplishment was. I also want to thank my children, as they have provided me with the drive to achieve my dreams and set the bar high. I want to share some words on each one of my children. I want to thank Christian for never letting me forget about the one 'C' I made on my report card and setting the standard for our household. I want to thank London for being my biggest fan and setting her bar just as high as I would set mine. I want to thank Chandler for giving me the ability to think about things in a way I would never imagined I could or would. Lastly, I want to thank Luka for giving me a piece of life I never knew existed. I can't wait to see and be a part of all your accomplishments. I would also like to thank my husband who provided me with endless support and pushed me to not only complete my dissertation, but to get it done to my standards.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract3
Copyright Page
Dedication5
Acknowledgments6
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION
Background. 12
Situation to Self
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of Study
Research Questions. 18
Definitions
Summary19
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW. 20
Overview
Theoretical Framework
Related Literature
Review of Literature. 23
Socioeconomical Status
Gender25
Children
Young Adults

Elderly	27
Environment	30
Beliefs on COVID-19	30
Mental Health	32
Depression	33
Anxiety	35
Trauma/PTSD	36
Loneliness	37
Treatment	39
Resilience	39
Physical Activity	40
Social/Physical Distancing	41
Next Steps	41
Gaps in the Literature	43
Future Research	43
Summary	44
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	45
Overview	45
Design	45
Research Question	47
Setting	47
Participants	47
Procedures	48

The Researcher's Role	48
Data Collection.	49
Interview Questions	49
Data Analysis	51
Trustworthiness	52
Credibility	52
Dependability and Confirmability	52
Transferability	52
Ethical Considerations.	53
Summary	53
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS.	54
Overview	54
Participants	54
Roger	55
Fred	55
Ethan	55
Liz	55
Kevin	56
Karen	56
Lauren	56
Joan	57
Results	57
m 11 1	50

A Return to Normalcy	58
Status Quo at Home	62
Safety at Home	67
Research Question	69
Summary	70
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	72
Overview	72
Summary of Findings	72
Discussion	77
Implications	80
Limitations	81
Recommendations	82
Summary	83
Deferences	25

#### Introduction

The recent COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in more than 184 million positive cases and around 3.9 million deaths (Saint & Moscovitch, 2021). The World Health Organization confirmed the COVID-19 virus has created a pandemic (World Health Organization, 2020). The pandemic created changes in individuals lives across the world consisting of stressors related to job loss, controlled activities, limited communication, and major changes to school and education structures (Hawes et al., 2021). These stressors may promote worry about a mental health crisis and negatively impact the lives of many individuals.

In an attempt to reduce the spread of COVID-19, the U.S. government put strict public health measures in place (Xu et al., 2022). In many countries, wearing a mask is required while in certain public areas (Javed et al., 2022). Several other protective measures have also been put in place depending on the area in which an individual lives. Some states had lockdowns, where businesses and public places closed early to encourage people to stay home. Other communities required wearing a mask in public areas. These protective measures encouraged isolation and reducing contact with others. Although these protective measures were put in place to reduce the spread of COVID-19, there is minimal understanding regarding how these restrictions impacted the mental health of the individuals affected.

Wearing masks that cover the cheeks, nose and mouth can prevent others from picking up on facial expression, inhibit ability to hear, and prevent others from being able to read lips.

Approximately 50 million people in the U.S. have been diagnosed with dementia and an estimated 1 million people have been diagnosed with aphasia (World Health Organization, 2019). The mandates on mask use create an additional barrier for individuals with cognitive, communication, and hearing challenges and impairs the ability to understand speech (Knollman-

Porter & Burshnic, 2020). In the past, measuring for mask wearing has been difficult and there is limited information that has been gathered to determine how mask wearing impacts psychological effects. Research has shown that wearing masks can increase respiratory muscle use, initiate headaches, and increase exertion and perceived shortness of breath (Scheid et al., 2020). Studies have not been conducted to determine if wearing a mask had any psychological impact on an individual's mental health, specifically regarding depression and anxiety levels.

Many individuals' lives have been changed by the COIVD-19 pandemic. People have been encouraged to stay home and reduce contact with others. Many people isolated themselves from their friends, family and co-workers. Businesses closed and shut down early, which impacted how often people were able to associate and communicate with others. Many people celebrated milestones via video chat or phone calls. Schools were shut down and forced to go virtual in some areas or for varying lengths. There was uncertainty about the new virus and how it was developed and spread from person to person.

#### **Background**

Due to the significant spread of the virus, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) implemented several preventative measures to reduce the spread of COVID-19. These preventative measures include social distancing, handwashing, and wearing a face mask (CDC, 2020). Mask wearing in the United States is currently a controversial and political issue (Haischer et al., 2020). Other countries, such as Taiwan, Hong Kong, and South Korea have been able to reduce the spread of COVID-19 significantly by requesting people to wear masks and making sure masks were affordable by banning manufactures from exporting masks at higher prices (Prather et al., 2020). The United States set national and state records for daily new cases of COVID-19 while studies have shown the prevalence rates of anxiety and depression have

increased considerably in the United States during the same period (Czeisler et al., 2020; United States, 2020). Other research found that during COVID anxiety and depression rates among adults in the U.S were three times higher than before the onset of the pandemic (Twenge & Joiner, 2020).

Due to the spread of COVID-19, different forms of lockdown and preventative measures have been put in place. These preventative measures have caused key changes in life domains, including home confinement and a reduction in face-to-face interaction (Hou et al., 2021). Previous research has found there are strong relationships between mental health and an individual's well-being while there is little research that describes how wearing a mask influences an individual's mental health, specifically for depression and anxiety related symptoms (Golińska et al., 2021). Li et al. (2021) also reported there is limited information regarding the impact wearing a mask has on one's symptoms of anxiety.

Masks have been used as a public health intervention to help reduce the spread of the COVID-19 virus. A recent study showed that only 41% of individuals were observed wearing a mask when entering a public store (Haischer et al., 2020). Observations showed that males, younger individuals, and individuals in rural communities were less likely to wear a mask in comparison to others (Haischer et al., 2020). However, when retail stores put restrictions on not wearing a mask, compliance levels rose to around 90% (Haischer et al., 2020). Another study has identified that not wearing a mask properly increases the likelihood for a person to experience anxiety-related symptoms if they are unsure how to properly wear a mask (Li et al., 2021).

Researchers have conducted experiments to determine if anxiety and depression play a role in wearing a mask. Another study has shown that clinical depression rates have increased in response to the pandemic (MacDonald et al., 2021). Studies have focused on sociodemographic

variables to determine what psychological factors have been affected by the pandemic (MacDonald et al., 2021). Researchers have found consistent evidence showing that adults younger than 44 showed higher levels of depression in comparison to older adults ages 65 and over (MacDonald et al., 2021). Tracy et al. (2022) suggested that some older individuals experienced an increase in sleep and a disruption in their routines which led to mental health issues. A lower tolerance for uncertainty and loneliness were associated with moderate to severe depression and anxiety (MacDonald et al., 2021).

Research has shown that individuals with a preexisting mental health disorder had worse outcomes across mental health and psychosocial indicators during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic (Hood et al., 2021). Individuals diagnosed with mental health disorders also showed more symptomology than those without a preexisting mental health disorder (Hood et al., 2021). Studies have also focused on medical conditions and how they impact psychological indicators. Hood et al. (2021) found that younger individual's and those with medical conditions experienced an increase in symptomology.

Obtaining mental health services has declined since the onset of the pandemic. After nationwide lockdowns, most private psychiatry practices were almost completely shut down (Singh Bhandari et al., 2020). Since the pandemic began, very few healthcare systems have identified the significance of mental health as a key role in disease management (Zhang et al., 2020). Currently, there is also a lack of well-trained psychiatrists in the mental health field which led to an increase in psychological distress (Zhang et al., 2020). Di Tella et al. (2020) found that health care professionals working during the COVID-19 pandemic reported higher levels of depression, frequent isolation, and other acute mental illnesses.

The psychological effects of COVID-19-induced mask wearing on depression and

anxiety have only recently drawn the attention of researchers. Individuals reporting higher levels of depression also reported higher levels of being significantly impacted by COVID-19 (Wierenga et al., 2021). In addition, individuals who believed they had more control over contracting the virus had fewer anxiety-related symptoms (Wierenga et al., 2021). Wierenga et al.'s (2021) research shows a small effect size, which suggests a need for understanding interconnectedness among somatic symptoms, perceptions, and psychological symptoms. Further research on the psychological effects of the COVID-19 mask mandates is needed to determine if there is a correlation with depression and anxiety levels.

#### **Situation to Self**

The philosophical assumptions for this study will focus on ontology assumptions and attempt to gain objective insight on the pandemic involving older adults. This study will aim to obtain more information regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the elderly population. The paradigm will be examined with a positivism approach and will aim to explain elderly individuals experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. The results of the study can be used to explain the reality for elderly individuals during the pandemic and will be used to reduce uncertainty during times of a pandemic.

## **Problem Statement**

At this time, there is limited information reported on the psychological impact the COVID-19 pandemic has had on individuals. This is due to the fact that these are the early stages of the pandemic and some areas are still in a state of emergency that is characterized by significant uncertainty (Favieri et al., 2021). Many studies have focused on the effects of the COVID-19 quarantines, however, no studies have been conducted to determine how wearing a mask impacts one's mental health, specifically depression and anxiety levels. It still remains

unclear if depression and anxiety increased several months after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic (Hawes et al., 2021). Continued research on anxiety and depression during the pandemic will be beneficial.

One problem with the COVID-19 pandemic is the lack of research conducted on preventative measures and how they impact an individual's mental health. There has been research conducted on how some preventative measures impact COVID-19 prevalence rates, but minimal research on how one's mental health is impacted (Di Tella et al., 2020). Much of the research regarding COVID-19 and mental health has been conducted in countries other than America. How COVID-19 has impacted individuals living in the United States is largely unknown. There are limited studies examining the effects of the pandemic on individuals of all ages, in different living environments, and of varying socioeconomic status.

Current research on elderly individuals living during the COVID-19 pandemic is limited, and is especially limited in the United States, as much of the research conducted on the COVID-19 pandemic was conducted in other countries. The sample sizes used in prior research studies tend to be small and the literature would benefit from a larger sample size as well as identifying other populations to determine the impact the pandemic had on various groups of individuals (Dziedzic et al., 2021). Understanding more about how the elderly population was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic can be helpful in treating these individuals as well as treating individuals during future pandemics.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study is to understand the livedexperiences of the elderly, specifically regarding psychological effects of adhering to protective measures put in during the COIVD-19 pandemic. At this stage of research, protective measures will be generally defined as social isolation, mask mandates, and the closing of businesses and schools. The target population for this study is elderly adults age 60 and older. The older population have an increased likelihood of experiencing difficulty in maintaining their lives during a pandemic, which makes them a population of interest (Fauk et al., 2022). Further research on the elderly population can help save and improve the lives of older individuals during the current COVID-19 pandemic and future pandemics that may occur.

## **Significance of Study**

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted lives worldwide. There has been some research done to determine more specific concerns arising from the pandemic; however, there continues to be limited research defining specific mental health reactions among different populations worldwide. As the COVID-19 pandemic is a relatively new issue, continued research can identify preventative measures as well as how those measures impact the mental health of the individuals involved.

Conducting this study can help to improve the lives of others who have faced or will face the effects of a pandemic. The information gathered can be used to determine if preventative measures regarding a contagious virus can impact the mental health of various populations in all environments. More information can be gathered to help determine how to prepare individuals in regard to the potential lack of interpersonal relationships with others. This research can help to put supplemental measures in place if any deficits are found among the various types of preventative protective restrictions that may be used in the future.

Over 80% of individuals over the age of 65 experience death from COVID-19 and the elderly population in general is at the highest risk of experiencing a severe reaction from the virus (Webb & Chen, 2021). This study will examine older adults' responses to the preventative

measures associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. A study conducted in another country has found mental health issues to be prevalent among both individuals who are institutionalized and those who are able to live independently during the COVID-19 pandemic (Caycho-Rodríguez et al., 2021). As older adults are considered a vulnerable group with viruses and diseases, they can be expected to follow the restrictions put in place and adhere to restrictions for extended periods of time to reduce the chances of contracting the virus (Sibal, 2021). Research in this area can help to improve the lives of older adults during the current or future pandemics.

## **Research Question**

**RQ1:** How do the elderly describe their lived-experiences with the psychological effects of adhering to protective measures in place during the COVID-19 pandemic?

#### **Definitions**

- 1. Pandemic- a disease outbreak spreading across several countries and continents that usually impacts many people (Kelly, 2011).
- 2. *Depression* a prevalent mental disorder that can commonly cause disability and reduced life satisfaction (Skoog, 2011).
- 3. Anxiety- one of the most prevalent psychiatric symptoms in the general population consisting of a distressing subjective experience; also can also be considered as comorbid to other primary diagnoses (Roy-Byrne, 2015).
- Social/Physical Distancing- keeping a distance of six feet from each other in crowed places or in groups to help reduce the spread of COVID-19 (World Health Organization, 2022).

#### **Summary**

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to effect individuals worldwide, more research is needed on mental and social/emotional health during this time. The various protective measures put in place may be continuing to impact the mental health and people's ability to maintain interpersonal relationships with others among the elderly population. Continued research in this area will not only shed light on the effects of the protective measures but can also be used in future pandemics in a more useful way. Using a phenomenological approach will help the researcher to better perceive and understand the impact of COVID-19 had on elderly adults. The philosophical frameworks will follow an ontological approach to create a structure for the new data.

The research shows there is a need for further research to be conducted in order to fully understand this phenomenon. The current research shows that the COVID-19 restrictions have impacted the psychological effects of the elderly population, but to what extent is largely unknown. This study will allow for better understanding of how the psychological effects of adhering to COVID-19 related protective measures may have changed due to the current pandemic by understanding more on how mental health has been impacted during this time. Understanding these changes can help to protect the elderly population when future pandemics or protective measures are put in place to reduce the spread of a deadly virus.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### Overview

The current research on COVID-19- related topics is growing, but there is still a lack of understanding regarding how the restrictions impacted elderly adults. The majority of the research to date was conducted in other countries, as those countries experienced the outbreak of the virus first (Fauk et al., 2022). This section focuses on studies that have been used to determine if restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic impacted the lives of individuals. This section will also provide information that previous studies have found on the mental health of individuals of all ages and demographics impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Finally, this chapter will discuss various treatment styles and characteristics that have been found to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The Cognitive Behavioral theories of depression were designed to integrate mental events into behavioral frameworks (Marchetti et al., 2020). Beck's (1976) theory explained that depressive symptoms occur when an individual experiences cognitive errors, dysfunctional attitudes, and negative automatic thoughts (Marchetti et al., 2020). Beck described that dysfunctional attitudes as harsh and maladaptive assumptions that alter information processing when stressors are present (Marchetti et al., 2020). Some cognitive errors include catastrophizing, overgeneralization, and selective abstraction (Marchetti et al., 2020). These cognitive errors can lead one to have a negative view of themselves, their future, and the world around them (Marchetti et al., 2020). Negative automatic thoughts can come rapidly when a person is stressed or upset and can dominate their mental activity (Marchetti et al., 2020).

This study utilizes the cognitive behavioral theory because the experiences of the pandemic and protective measures can cause psychological effects such as depression among the elderly population. This theory can provide a framework for the current study to determine if protective measures cause catastrophizing, overgeneralization, and selective abstraction during a pandemic when protective measures are mandated. Using this approach can help to determine if self-deprecating thoughts and feelings of inadequacy and worthlessness play a role in how the elderly population responded to protective measures mandated during the COIVD-19 pandemic (Shestyuk & Deldin, 2010).

There have been a small amount of longitudinal studies that were conducted to determine within-person changes in mental health symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic (Hawes et al., 2021). Several of these studies have reported mixed results (Hawes et al., 2021). Planchuelo-Gómez et al. (2020) found that levels of anxiety, depression, and stress have increased significantly in adults living in Spain due to the confinement COVID-19 has caused. Other longitudinal studies have focused on individuals working in the health field who are responding to the individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 (Wang et al., 2020). A large portion of the research previously conducted on the current pandemic focuses on physicians, nurses, and other health care providers (Tiete et al., 2021).

Consistencies have been found in the research regarding cross-cultural research (Church et al., 2008). Previous research has found that racial and ethnic minority groups have been subject to disparities in mental health, psychosocial stress, and substance misuse (McKnight-Eily et al., 2021). Czeisler et al. (2020) found Hispanic participants reported significantly higher prevalence rates of intrusive thoughts about suicide since the onset of the pandemic. McKnight-Eily et al. (2021) found that current levels of depression were reported 59% more often by

Hispanic adults in comparison to non-Hispanic adults. They also found that over 36% of Hispanic participants reported increased or newly initiated substance abuse (McKnight-Eily et al., 2021).

Research has also been conducted on White adults regarding how the pandemic has impacted their mental health status (Church et al., 2008). White adults were more likely than other cultures to report stress over worrying about a loved one's health (McKnight-Eily et al., 2021). Adult respondents that were multiracial and non-Hispanic adults reported an increase in stress due to worrying about the stigma or discrimination that may be associated with being blamed for the spread of COVID-19 (McKnight-Eily et al., 2021).

Other studies have estimated that job loss is one of the most significant factors causing negative effects on individuals' mental health (McKnight-Eily et al., 2021). McKnight-Eily et al. (2021) found that around 27% of participants worried about losing their jobs and over 14% worry about not having enough food. Hispanic adults reported the highest stress levels centered around not having enough food and maintaining stable housing (McKnight-Eily et al., 2021). Future research should be conducted to determine how situational factors presented from COVID-19 impact daily living.

## **Related Literature**

There were an estimated 703 million people age 65 or older in the world in the year 2019, and the population in some areas of the world are aging rapidly (World Health Organization, 2019). Since COVID-19 emerged, there have been more than 58 million individuals who have been burdened by the outbreak (Mistry et al., 2021). The elderly population has been largely impacted as they are more vulnerable to severe illness and morality (Mistry et al., 2021). In Bangladesh, mental health issues have not gained much attention during the implementation of

policies to prevent the spread of the virus (Mistry et al., 2021). Studies in Bangladesh have found that older individuals experienced an increase in depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic (Mistry et al., 2021).

Older adults have become more vulnerable during the COVID-19 pandemic due to a more compromised physical state, chronic health conditions, decline in cognitive functioning and other disabilities (Parlapani et al., 2020). In Europe, around 95% of COVID-19 related deaths were in individuals ages 60-65 (Parlapani et al., 2020). In the United States, about 80% of fatal cases were involved in individuals between the ages of 60 and 65 (Parlapani et al., 2020). There was also a large number of individuals who experienced COVID-19 related deaths that had been living in long-term care facilities (Parlapani et al., 2020).

#### **Review of Literature**

There have been few direct-observational studies done to determine if demographic traits impact the odds of wearing a mask (Haischer et al., 2020). COVID-related research would benefit from additional observational studies in order to gain national validity after mask mandates end (Haischer et al., 2020). Some research has been conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic to determine if there were any significant differences among various demographics in regard to mental health symptoms (Haischer et al., 2020). Haischer et al., (2020) used multiple regression analysis to determine if mental health symptoms had any correlations among gender, age and location (Haischer et al., 2020). The same regression analyses showed that age, gender, and location all play significant roles in determining whether or not an individual wears a mask (Haischer et al., 2020). Webb and Chen (2021) found that Hispanic adults reported the highest levels of pandemic related anxiety and depression (33%) in comparison to Black adults (26%), White adults (23%), and Asian adults (17%). More research is needed in this area to determine

how various demographics can be impacted by viruses to determine effective mental health strategies in the future. Findings are conflicting results regarding the demographics of the participants in studies relating to the pandemic and related mental health issues. One study found individuals in the ages range of 18-24 have experienced significantly higher suicidal ideations after the onset of the pandemic (Czeisler et al., 2020). Another study found that 62% of individuals with a mean age of 72 tested positive for depression after the onset of the pandemic (Alhalaseh et al., 2022). Another study found that posttraumatic stress disorder was found in 85.5% of Chinese children aged 16 and younger during the height of COVID-19 (Oliveira et al., 2022).

#### **Socioeconomic Status**

Socioeconomic status has been researched to determine if there were any significant findings regarding its relation to psychosocial effects and socioeconomical status. A previous study has shown participants experience significant increases in depression and anxiety when living situations are potentially being threatened (Webb & Chen, 2021). Additionally, Webb and Chen (2021) found that older adults who had recently lost their job or had a family member lose their job during the pandemic reported increased rates of anxiety/depression (34%) in comparison to the 21% whose jobs were not affected.

Another study has found an increased likelihood of experiencing fair health, poor health, and serious depression among individuals with less than a high school education, individuals with low income, and individuals who were currently renting their homes (Lee & Singh, 2021). When compared to individuals with higher socioeconomical status, individuals with lower education and lower income experienced statistically significant rates of depression (Lee & Singh, 2021).

#### Gender

Research has found that females tend to mask more often than males (Haischer et al., 2020). One study has shown that females experienced an increased rate of coronavirus-related anxiety (Haischer et al., 2020). Parlapani et al. (2020) found that women over 65 tend to experienced more severe depression, more worry related to the COVID-19 virus, and reported more sleep difficulties than men. Parlapani et al.'s research yielded no significant findings in predicting gender-related differences when measuring for loneliness.

Other research has shown that gender plays a significant role in the development of depression and anxiety during the pandemic. A study conducted in August of 2020 found that 28% of women 65-74 years old self-reported higher levels of depression and anxiety mid-pandemic compared to older men (approximately 20%) (Webb & Chen, 2021). Approximately 20% of older men who self-reported depression and anxiety (Webb & Chen, 2021). The researchers expected these results, as the findings were similar in research conducted before the pandemic (Webb & Chen, 2021). The study also found a link between fair/poor health and chronic depression among several racial and ethnic groups (Webb & Chen, 2021). Webb and Chen's (2021) research revealed the only ethnic group to not experience significant mental health changed during the height of the pandemic was non-Hispanic Asians.

#### Children

There were many limitations put in place for school age children during the years of the COVID-19 pandemic. In school, children were required to follow social distancing rules and wear masks. They were introduced to online schooling and sporting events and other extracurricular field trips were cancelled (Ladhani, 2021). Children did not have as many opportunities to talk and engage with their peers as they had in the past. Children may have also

experienced psychological distress due to the fear of contracting the virus or infecting a loved one with the virus. The restrictions put in place to reduce the spread of the virus may have some lasting impact on children as well as adults.

One of the major effects the pandemic had on children was the subsequent isolation and reduction in physical activity. More than 70% of children and adolescents did not meet an adequate level of physical activity during the pandemic (Denerel et al., 2021). Other research has found similar results in regard to physical activity levels among children. Xiang et al. (2020) found there was a significant decrease in physical activity and increase in screen time among children during the pandemic. There are concerns that the decrease in physical activity may negatively impact children's physical and mental health, which in turn may enhance negative health conditions (Xiang et al., 2020).

Cost et al. (2021) found a significant deterioration across multiple mental health domains in children and adolescents living in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic. Their study revealed that over two thirds of Canadian children and adolescents experienced a decline in their mental health during that time (Cost et al., 2021). One of the most prominent domains that was found to be significant was stress related to social isolation (Cost et al., 2021). In this particular study, age was not a determining factor in the deterioration of mental health and children and adolescents were the largest demographic to experience a decline (Cost et al., 2021). Children ages 10-12 were found to have the highest deterioration rates in depression, while deterioration in anxiety and irritability was highest in children ages six to nine (Cost et al., 2021).

## **Young Adults**

There have been few studies conducted to determine what effects, if any, were experienced by the younger population during the COVID-19 pandemic. Some studies have

shown that younger adults responded well to restrictions and policies put in place due to family and peer support, while others have demonstrated that the younger adult population was negatively impacted by the restrictions and experienced increases in mental health symptoms (Liu et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020). One study showed that the quality of life and life satisfaction during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic were lower in younger people compared to older adults (Bidzan-Bluma et al., 2020). Huynh et al. (2022) did not find any correlations between fear of COVID-19 in older Vietnamese adults and well-being.

## **Elderly**

There are many challenges the elderly population will face when exposed to a pandemic situation. Anxiety increases due to concerns about personal safety and not knowing what the pandemic may bring (Flett & Heisel, 2020). Individuals over the age of 65 were declared to be a high-risk group during the COVID-19 pandemic and were encouraged to take precautions (Yıldırım, 2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent lock down restrictions can lead to emerging mental health issues in the elderly population (Yıldırım, 2021). One study found that older individuals perceived growing old was like "committing a crime" and experienced enhanced feelings of helplessness, being fragile, and not contributing to society (Yıldırım, 2021, p. 901).

Some research has shown that the elderly population are at the greatest risk of becoming ill and dying from the COVID-19 disease (Jecker, 2020). Older adults are encouraged to get vaccinated, wear a mask, maintain social distancing, and exercise proper handwashing to prevent the spread of the disease (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021). The elderly may experience increased isolation and loneliness during quarantine and even experience more isolation than what is recommended (Jecker, 2020). Another study has shown that the

emergency procedures put in place were directly related to older individuals starting to lead unhealthy lifestyles, a majority of which continued after areas started reopening (Gabriella Di Santo et al., 2021).

The government in Singapore implemented a form of a lock down and called it the "circuit breaker" (Yu et al., 2022, p. 1). During the time this study was conducted, there were major concerns that the elderly population would not be able to maintain their mental health and properly adjust to the strict restrictions, isolation, and social distancing measures required (Yu et al., 2022). After conducting this study, researchers found that "age advantages in emotional experienced were maintained in community-dwelling older adults" (Yu et al., 2022 p. 6). Yu and colleagues (2022) continued to find significant information that found evidence to support the idea that older adults reported fewer depressive, anxiety, and stress- related symptoms than expected (Yu et al., 2022). These results were consistent among the older adults even if they were limited in obtaining essential items/ activities and with an emphasis placed on digital resources (Yu et al., 2022). This research also found that older adults were less likely to be able to conduct essential activities and stay up to date on current regulations and restrictions put in place in their area (Yu et al., 2022).

Another study has shown that the elderly population has handled the effects of the pandemic better than younger groups (Czeisler et al., 2020). A study conducted in August 2020 found that individuals over the age of 65 reported lower depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideations more than younger adults (Czeisler et al., 2020). Although the elderly reported fewer depressive symptoms, depression can be more detrimental to the elderly population and depression can be more likely to increase functional impairments (Webb & Chen, 2021).

Research has continued to show that may people of all ages have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. One study found that physical isolation was associated with depression, anxiety, and loneliness during the first six months of the pandemic (Joseph et al., 2022). The same study revealed that the levels of depression- and anxiety- related symptoms did not significantly increase at the six-month follow-up among individuals 55 and older (Joseph et al., 2022). Joseph et al. (2022) found the association between depression and individuals who were socially isolated before the pandemic took place had the strongest correlation.

Another concerning factor is the onset and development of dementia in older adults. Currently, there is minimal research regarding the COIVD-19 pandemic and dementia and how it impacts the older population. Hosker and Ward (2017) found that individuals experiencing hypoactive delirium were likely to be missed by medical admissions and were not able to receive adequate attention for the issue due to similar symptoms constituting the onset of COVID-19. Not receiving proper care for the onset of delirium could have been contributed to the spread of the virus and cases may have gone unrecognized (Wang, 2020). Another result not getting the appropriate care is a higher risk of mortality (Wang, 2020).

To determine and understand the elderly population's experience during the COVID-19 pandemic, focus groups have been conducted to obtain first-hand information on the effects of the pandemic on this demographic. This study interviewed 17 participants ranging from ages 62 to 101, and all of whom were living in different types of housing consisting of houses, condominiums, and continuing care residences during the time the COVID-19 pandemic occurred. Several participants reported negative experiences from being socially isolated from others (Fordyce & Smith, 2022).

#### **Environment**

A prior study has shown that rates of wearing a mask are similar among suburban and urban areas (Haischer et al., 2020). They also found that rates of wearing a mask were much lower in rural stores in comparison to stores in urban and suburban areas (Haischer et al., 2020). People living in urban and suburban areas were four times more likely to wear a mask than individuals in rural areas (Haischer et al., 2020). Researchers believed these results may reflect individuals' beliefs they were at a lower risk of contracting the virus (Haischer et al., 2020).

Residents living in long-term facilities are at higher risk of experiencing a COVID-19-related mortality (Lee et al., 2021). These long-term health care residents were targeted as a priority to be given access to the COVID-19 vaccine. Lee et al. (2021) found that the promotion of vaccine outreach programs focused on marginalized and socially vulnerable groups. Future research is encouraged in this area to help address any inequalities.

#### **Beliefs on COVID-19**

Several studies have been conducted on the various belief's individuals have regarding the COVID-19 pandemic. A study using poll questions indicated that most people wear masks in public as well as following social distancing guidelines, however individuals have experienced an increase in worry and negative impact during the pandemic (Hood et al., 2021). The same study also found that as COVID-19 related deaths progressed, the participants experienced more worry and became stressed about how the pandemic would affect their families (Hood et al., 2021).

The Health Belief Model (HBM) was used to identify any relationships that may exist between mental health symptoms and an individual's beliefs regarding COVID-19 (Bressington et al., 2020). The HBM was adopted to learn more about why people do not adhere to disease

prevention strategies (Jones et al., 2014). The HBM consists of six constructs designed to predict behavior. The six constructs include risk susceptibility, risk severity, benefits to action, barriers to action, and cures to action (Jones et al., 2014). The HBM is ideal when conducting communication research and is able to fit diverse cultural contexts (Jones et al., 2014).

#### **Mental Health**

Another study has shown that depression and anxiety increased during the pandemic. One study found that nearly 46% of adults 65 and older reported an increase in depressive and anxiety- related symptoms (Webb & Chen, 2021). As these studies were conducted during the pandemic, the common theme was that the individuals reported their mental health was negatively impacted by the pandemic and depressive rates increased significantly (Webb & Chen, 2021). Studies have also shown that individuals who remained in quarantine for extended periods of time led to unhealthy lifestyles where most of the lifestyles that have continued post-quarantine (Wang, 2020). There have been several other virus outbreaks in which the psychosocial well-being of individuals is largely overlooked (Zhang et al., 2020).

The pandemic has caused severe social and psychological ramifications for Chinese people who were quarantined and experienced a reduction in face-to- face interactions (Zhang et al., 2020). Studies have shown that social support for those who were isolated was mostly provided by family members, social workers, and psychiatrists (Zhang et al., 2020). Mental health statues need to be monitored more closely over time to ensure support for isolated and effected individuals over time (Zhang et al., 2020).

Other current research has focused on analyzing the relationships between mental well-being and experienced stress during the COVID-19 pandemic (Golińska et al., 2021). Prior research has shown that depressive- and anxiety- related disorders are potential risk factors for

experiencing difficulty coping with stressful situations (Renner et al., 2012). Han et al. (2021) found that perceived severity of the pandemic was directly predictive of depression, anxiety, and stress, which supports other finding's conclusions (Wang et al., 2021). Golińska et al. (2021) found that using minimally effective coping skills can intensify symptoms when an individual is faced with a threatening situation. After the study was conducted, Golińska et al. (2021) further discovered that the most severe PTSD symptoms were experienced most frequent by individuals with anxiety disorders. The individuals who were diagnosed with depression prior to the pandemic reported the least intense PTSD symptoms (Golińska et al., 2021).

COVID-19 has been shown to have a greater impact on the psychological health of individuals who work in the medical field or those who directly participate in COVID-19- related work (Kim & Kim, 2021). Another study has determined nurses, medical staff, and health care workers are at higher risk for depression, anxiety, and sleep disturbances due to th stress of the pandemic on their lives (Kim & Kim, 2021). Studies have also focused on the mental health of individuals in the general public (Kim & Kim, 2021).

There is conflicting research in relation to mental health and the elderly population. Some research has shown that older adults are more resilient and are less negatively affected by mental health symptoms (Mendoza-Ruvalcaba et al., 2022). There has also been research conducted to suggest that social distancing and quarantine are associated with negative effects in the older population (Mendoza-Ruvalcaba et al., 2022). Mendoza-Ruvalcaba et al. (2022) found an association with frequency of falls, ability to maintain activities of daily living (ADL's) and deficits in memory, language, and orientation (Mendoza-Ruvalcaba et al., 2022).

## **Depression**

Limited research has been conducted on the prevalence of depressive symptoms in the older population (60 and older) of individuals living in Bangladesh (Mistry et al., 2021). One study was conducted in this area due to the elderly population being the most at risk during the pandemic. Researchers found a high prevalence rate among older adults in Bangladesh during the COVID-19 pandemic (Mistry et al., 2021). Mistry et al. (2021) determined there was a need for urgent attention from stakeholders to help reduce the depression levels leading to cognitive impairments for this demographic. They also encouraged individuals with pre-existing conditions to seek medical attention to avoid a reduction in health conditions (Mistry et al., 2021).

Previous research has found that the effects from the pandemic has impacted individuals' anxiety and depressive symptoms. One study was conducted to determine the prevalence rates of anxiety and depression in correlation with participants' daily routines during the pandemic (Hou et al., 2021). Hou et al. (2021) found that anxiety was significantly correlated with medium/high disruptions to participants' daily routines (Hou et al., 2021). They also found a significant positive correlation between high/medium disruptions with healthy eating, sleep, and socializing when compared to low disruptions in an individual's daily routine (Hou et al., 2021). The disruptions caused from the pandemic were significantly correlated with an increase in anxiety and depression (Hou et al., 2021). The researchers determined there was an urgent need to collect data to understand the mental health toll from the COVID-19 pandemic (Hou et al., 2021).

Research has shown that depression and anxiety prevalence rates have increased since the onset of the pandemic (Vahratian et al., 2021). However, there is limited research on how suicidal ideation and substance use and whether or not they were exacerbated by the COVID-19

pandemic. One study found that over 40% of participants reported at least one adverse mental health diagnosis or condition (Czeisler et al., 2020). Additionally, Vahratian et al. (2021) noted an increase in individuals who reported needing mental health counseling services between August 2020 until December 2020. The same study found that there was an increase in anxiety and depressive symptoms reported by respondents within the same timeframe (Vahratian et al., 2021).

There are limited longitudinal studies that have shown significant results between psychosocial burden, depression, and severity of illness during the COVID-19 pandemic (Seethaler et al., 2021). Seethaler et al. (2021) found that individuals with higher depression scores indicated more intense psychosocial impact from the pandemic and the severity of their illness indicated more negative effects from the pandemic. They indicated the results may be explained by the fact that depression in the elderly population is shown to be linked with lower resiliency (Seethaler et al., 2021). The study continued to find results indicating that self-rated depression results among the older population may be biased due to a negative self-evaluation regarding the pandemic (Seethaler et al., 2021). Lastly, the study found that the psychosocial impact on the elderly population needs to be addressed particularly in individuals with pre-existing psychiatric conditions due to the compounded negative effects especially on those individuals (Seethaler et al., 2021).

There has also been research conducted to determine if there were any associations between drug use and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic (Somé et al., 2022).

Researchers found that individuals who reported higher levels of depression and anxiety tended to use alcohol and cannabis more often than those whose depression and anxiety rates were lower (Somé et al., 2022). Been et al. (2021) reported difficulty explaining illicit drug use during

the current COVID-19 pandemic in European cities. In this study, illicit drug use was referred to as using amphetamines, methamphetamines, MDMA, and cannabis (Been et al., 2021).

Researchers were not able to find a decrease in using illicit drugs during the pandemic but did find that physical distancing and movement restrictions had significant consequences on illicit drug use and supply (Been et al., 2021).

#### Anxiety

The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale can be used to help researchers obtain information to determine an individual's levels of depression, anxiety and stress (Han et al., 2021). This scale consists of 21-items and is divided into three dimensions consisting of depression, anxiety, and stress (Han et al., 2021). Higher scores represent higher levels of depression, anxiety and stress (Han et al., 2021). Zanon et al. (2020) found that the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21) can be used effectively cross-culturally. Other studies in this area have used the Household Pulse Survey (HPS) to obtain information on anxiety and depressive symptoms on people in the United States (Zanon et al., 2020). The HPS is an online survey that was developed by the U.S. Census Bureau (Vahratian et al., 2021).

The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-4) was used to help determine the prevalence and intensity of depressive- and anxiety- related symptoms (Vahratian et al., 2021). This questionnaire reflects the respondent's previous last seven days and inquires about feeling nervous, an inability to stop worrying, experiencing depressive symptoms, and experiencing little interest or pleasure (Vahratian et al., 2021). The PHQ-4 records an individual's prescription medication use, counseling interventions, and unmet counseling needs over a four-week period (Vahratian et al., 2021).

The COVID-10 Pandemic Mental Health Questionnaire (CoPaQ) is a self-report questionnaire that has been used in a wide variety of populations to evaluate the COVID-19 pandemic-related psychosocial continuum (Rek et al., 2021). The Coronavirus Anxiety Scale was implemented to assess individuals who are experiencing dysfunctional anxiety associated with the pandemic (Supriya & Kulkarni, 2022). The scale consists of five scaling questions that healthcare workers and researchers can use to determine individuals who might be struggling with increased anxiety due to the pandemic (Supriya & Kulkarni, 2022).

Further research has been conducted on how the current COVID-19 pandemic has played impacted symptoms of anxiety. Supriya and Kulkarni (2022) found the overall anxiety rate among individuals aged 60-80 was 22.5% when using the Coronavirus Anxiety Scale (CAS). Individuals aged 70-79 showed the highest scores of anxiety rates due to the effects of the pandemic in comparison to other age groups (Supriya & Kulkarni, 2022). Individuals aged 60-69 showed moderate anxiety levels and individuals aged 80 and up showed the least amount of anxiety (Supriya & Kulkarni, 2022). Other literature shows that hand washing, wearing a face mask, avoiding going into the community, and social distancing has increased anxiety related symptoms (Schneider & Leonard, 2021).

## Trauma/PTSD

During the COVID-19 pandemic, loneliness has been a significant predictor of experiencing posttraumatic stress disorder (González-Sanguino et al., 2020). Studies were conducted to test the mediating effects of existential anxiety to determine how COVID-19 impacts life satisfaction and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms (Tomaszek & Muchacka-Cymerman, 2020). Tomaszek & Muchacka-Cymerman (2020) were able to confirm previous research that there is an association between PTSD and posttraumatic growth. Tomaszek &

Muchacka-Cymerman (2020) identified that the COVID-19 pandemic has created unique situations in analyzing these relationships because each participant has experienced a real-life threat to their health and life (Tomaszek & Muchacka-Cymerman, 2020). Older adults may have been exposed to additional stress in relation to the pandemic due to job loss, unavailability of food, and unavailability of household supplies (Webb & Chen, 2021).

The diagnosis of PTSD has undergone significant debate and has been altered several times since it was first introduced (Hafstad et al., 2014). PTSD has been characterized by three symptom clusters including reexperiencing, avoidance/emotional constriction, and arousal (Hafstad et al., 2014). PTSD is caused by a terrifying or horrific experience that presents as a traumatic event. There are endless types of traumatic events that directly or indirectly impact the individuals. To be diagnosed with PTSD, an individual must be directly involved in, witness, or learn about a traumatic event happening to a friend or family member.

#### Loneliness

During the COVID-19 pandemic, loneliness has been a significant predictor of developing depression related symptoms (González-Sanguino et al., 2020). The term loneliness can be defined as "a subjective perception of a negative emotional state related with the divergence between desired and existing relations with others" (Ong et al., 2015, p. 444). One study estimated the use of the various restrictions and distancing orders put in place were able to prevent an estimated 3.1 million deaths without taking into consideration how loneliness may impact the people made to follow these restrictions (Webb & Chen, 2021, as cited in Flaxman et al., 2020).

One of the main protective orders put in place was social and physical distancing.

Although social and physical distancing was not intended to cause loneliness, unintended

loneliness can occur especially within the older adult population (Webb & Chen, 2021). Loneliness is associated with anxiety, anger, hypertension, stress levels, and the activation of the sympathetic nervous system (Webb & Chen, 2021). Social isolation is associated with decreased quality of life, and an increase in premature death, strokes, and dementia among the older adult population (Webb & Chen, 2021).

Keeping in contact with friends and family members has been increasingly popular with various sources of communication, including Facebook, video calls, e-mail, and other online social networking sites (Hajek & König, 2021). Minimal studies have examined the connection between contact with friends/family via the internet and depressive symptoms and life satisfaction (Hajek & König, 2021). Hajek and König (2021) found results similar to previous research, confirming that daily contact with friends and associates via the internet can be beneficial to mental health and life satisfaction. They also asserted that future research should focus on internet contact when there are major government restrictions are put in place (Hajek & König, 2021).

Further research conducted by Dziedzic et al. (2021) showed that single individuals, individuals living alone, and unemployed people experienced on average a moderate level of loneliness during the COVID-19 pandemic. They also found that individuals over the age of 60 who reported higher levels of loneliness also experienced higher levels of anxiety, depression, and irritability (Dziedzic et al., 2021). Lastly, Dziedzic et al. (2021) expressed a concern for the elderly population, as they are at higher risk of physical and mental impact during the COVID-19 pandemic. Another study has further concurred that older adults that identified as needing care and being sick, as well as experienced feeling weak, lonely, hopeless, reluctant, and struggling with experienced mental health issues during the COVID-19 pandemic (Ayalon et al., 2020).

#### **Treatment**

Researchers were particularly interested in how to treat mental health symptoms in older adults during the COIVD-19 pandemic. These researchers used telephone-delivered behavioral activation and mental imagery to treat older individuals for depression (Pellas et al., 2021). They found the use of mental imagery can be helpful in facilitating behavioral activation treatment when treating depressive symptoms (Pellas et al., 2021). Pellas et al.(2021) further found that behavioral activation was helpful in reducing depressive symptoms specifically in elderly adults and that it can be delivered remotely via telephone (Pellas et al., 2021). Older individuals may have difficulty accessing online therapy; therefore, the telephone is a helpful and more accessible option for this population (Pellas et al., 2021).

A study conducted between March and May of 2021 measured the mental health of Palestinian medical students and found that mental health status was significantly related to physical activity level, duration of sleep, and entertainment time (Hanani et al., 2022). In addition, Hanani et al. (2022) found evidence that cognitive-behavioral therapy was effective in treating these medical students for depression. The findings indicated a decrease in depression, anxiety, and social dysfunction when treated with cognitive behavioral therapy (Hanani et al., 2022).

### Resilience

Resilience has been identified as a protective factor against psychological stress but not many studies have been conducted to determine if any changes regarding resilience took place during the COIVD-19 pandemic (To et al., 2022). To et al.'s (2022) longitudinal study found that resilience scores did not significantly fluctuate during the pandemic (To et al., 2022). This study

found similar results with other studies in that resiliency levels predominately remained the same during the pandemic among Australian individuals 18 and older (To et al., 2022).

Other studies have been conducted to learn more resiliency during the COVID-19 pandemic. Many people utilized coping skills that shared a collective or social focus, including volunteering and feeling as if they belong (Halliday et al., 2021). Some of the mental health responses found during the COIVID- 19 pandemic were similar to the responses provided following natural disasters and during the Ebola outbreak (Halliday et al., 2021).

## **Physical Activity**

Due to the mandates put in place during the COIVD-19 pandemic, many forms of physical activity were cancelled, postponed, or were deemed unsafe during at the time. In contrast, resilience was positively associated with activity level during the pandemic (To et al., 2022). To et al. (2022) described how physical activity can help improve mood, while cognition can be used as a buffer for stress and other related stress disorders. To et al. (2022) found that physical activity was related to resilience, anxiety, and stress. Healthy actions including regular exercise can provide a buffer for adverse psychological effects from the COVID-19 pandemic (To et al., 2022).

As age increases, losses in vision, hearing, mobility, and cognitive functioning reduce among older people, especially those exposed to environmental barriers (Rantanen et al., 2012). Portegijs et al. (2021) found that prior to COVID-19, older adults reported enjoying a variety of activity destinations. Portegijs et al. (2021) specified these activity destinations to include indoor sports, outdoor sports, grocery stores, food services, health services, and social visits. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the activity destinations were mainly used for physical exercise and were significantly reduced (Portegijs et al., 2021). Of the participants in Portegijs et al.'s study, most

reported physical exercise coming from daily chores (Portegijs et al., 2021). Elderly individuals were found to be most physically active inside their homes or close to their neighborhood during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic (Portegijs et al., 2021).

# Social/Physical Distancing

Social distancing and quarantine were used primarily to help reduce the spread of the coronavirus. One study had shown that social distancing and quarantine are related to psychological distress, depression, anxiety, and social detachment (Chatterjee & Chauhan, 2020). Physical distancing was associated with fewer home visits and disruption in services associated with care, as well as put a focus on basic needs (Parlapani et al., 2020). The disruption in care raises questions concerning the elderly's ability to maintain a well-balanced diet, maintain personal hygiene, and obtain the required amount of physical activity needed or a healthy lifestyle.

Restrictive measures along with isolation contributed to older people feeling as if they were not contributing to their families; many reported a sense of losing societal roles and connectedness during the coronavirus outbreak (Parlapani et al., 2020). In an attempt to keep the older population safe, various restrictions were put into place. These restrictions were placed on nursing homes, rehabilitation centers, assisted living communities, hospitals, and the like. Further research in this area would be beneficial to determine what interventions can be put in place to help the individuals who have experienced mental health issues and to assist with future virus outbreaks to prevent long term effects for the older and elderly population.

## **Next Steps**

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact individuals worldwide, more research on the effect of the pandemic on the mental health of those who endured it is needed. Current

research has shown that preventative measures largely negatively impact mental health (Hou et al., 2021). In particular, several measures designed to mitigate the effects of COVID-19 have negatively impacted the mental health of individuals in the United States (Vahratian et al., 2021). Additional research would provide an increased understanding of how preventative measures impact the mental health of the affected population.

If more research had been available, adults would have had more information to determine how to best maintain their health during the COVID-19 pandemic. Adults with pre-existing mental health disorders deserve to know how the recommended preventative measures may impact their pre-existing illness. Research has shown that a significant amount of people are worried about spreading the disease to a family member or colleague (Hennein & Lowe, 2020). Having additional research on how preventive measures impact an individual's mental health can provide insight on how to assist during any future pandemics. Conducting additional research can also help to provide individuals with the support they need to maintain a healthy mental health outlook during times of distress.

Children are required to wear masks in some schools. Because of this, more research is needed to determine the efficacy of mask wearing and social distancing on a population with very low risk factor juxtaposed to the risk posed to the children's mental health, as well as their social and academic learning. Such information would help parents and educational institutions make informed decisions about the mitigation used to determine what policies are in the best interests of the children.

Determining if wearing a mask has a negative impact on depressive- and anxiety- related symptoms can help to determine if preventative measures need to be altered. Individuals who are impacted by the current COVID-19 pandemic need to be aware of the potential negative impact

they may experience when following the preventative measures put in place. Individuals also will benefit from understanding how their prior mental health diagnosis may be impacted if they continue to follow the preventative measures that are put in place.

# Gaps in the Literature

There are several gaps in the literature that have been identified and are important to discuss in order to help individuals who are experiencing mental health issues due to the current COVID-19 pandemic. Bressington et al. (2020) found that in Hong Kong, there are gaps in understanding the importance of putting mental health services and promoting mental health within the community. Islam et al. (2020) identified gaps in how mental health is impacted by the disruption of education, teaching, and learning. The academic delays the COVID-19 pandemic has created are still widely unknown.

There are many gaps in the literature due to COVID-19 being fairly new to the world. Much of the current research focuses on countries other than the United States. As researchers become more involved in issues surrounding COVID-19 due to restrictions, social distancing, and isolation, more valuable information will be gathered and understood. There are also significant gaps in differences in age, as the virus tends to attack older individuals more than younger individuals. These gaps will be able to be filled once more is known about the disease and how it impacts individuals.

## **Future Research**

Many current studies have been able to identify areas that need future research. Saint and Moscovitch (2021) identified that future research should focus on how wearing a mask is related to broader social norms. They also identified that future research should be conducted on the

purpose for wearing a mask to determine if it is used for self-concealment or to follow health guidelines (Saint & Moscovitch, 2021).

Other studies identified women as being more impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and encouraged researchers to focus on the relationship between the risk of experiencing anxiety in females (Li et al., 2021). There is not much research that focuses on minority groups and how they are experiencing the pandemic. Hennein and Lowe (2020) encouraged researchers to attempt to obtain more diverse samples and gather participants from regions all over the US. Bressington et al. (2020) encouraged researchers to conduct future investigations on the pandemic once it resolves and to use the Face Mask Scale as well as the Patient Health Questionnaire in their studies.

Future research should also focus on the proper ways to wear a mask. Li et al. (2021) found that over 15% percent of individuals in their study did not know how to properly wear a mask or the proper type of mask to wear. Teachers who did not know how to properly wear a mask were more likely to not enforce the proper wearing of a mask (Li et al., 2021). The same study also found that male teachers were less likely to report anxiety- related symptoms (Li et al., 2021).

### Summary

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact the lives of individuals worldwide. There is minimal research that helps people describe and understand more about how the protective measures that have been put in place impact overall mental health. Wearing masks and utilizing other protective equipment can negatively impact individuals with pre-existing mental health illness. There have been various questionnaires that inquire about how protective equipment impacts mental health that can be used to help researchers obtain more information on this topic.

**Chapter Three: Methods** 

#### Overview

This section will describe how this study will be carried out and define what specific questions this study aimed to further understand. This study will look at the relationship between the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and the mental health and ability to have interpersonal relationships among individuals over the age of 60. The inability to maintain interpersonal relationships with others has been shown to have negative effects on older individuals, but to what extent these restrictions play on mental health is still largely unknown.

## Design

This study was conducted to provide understanding as to how the COVID-19 pandemic impacted adults over the age of 60. Due to the limited research on COVID-19, a qualitative study will be conducted in order to determine how the elderly population responded to the restrictions of the pandemic. The purpose of this design is to better understand how the restrictions put in place to reduce the spread of COVID-19 influenced the mental health of this population and their interpersonal relationships with others.

The design of this study is cohesive with a descriptive phenomenological study. This study will be used to represent various responses from lived experiences of participants during the COVID-19 pandemic and will be the starting point for knowledge on this topic (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). A main concern of a phenomenological study is the lived experiences of participants and how they are described by the individual experiencing the phenomenon (Giorgi et al., 2017). First person analyses will be conducted to determine each participant's experiences with restrictions put in place during the COVID-19 pandemic. This research will be able to be

used by other researchers to further investigate of individuals' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Descriptive phenomenology relates to human experience as it reflects on individuals' values, purposes, ideals, emotions, and relationships (Thorpe & Holt, 2008). The current study will follow an existential design and focus on understanding each individual's whole meaning of their experiences with preventative measures during the COVID-19 pandemic (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). Interview questions will focus on providing a description of participants actual experiences (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). The actions of the participant will be described, and the inner experiences will be interpreted to determine the meaning of each participants' experiences (Thorpe & Holt, 2008).

There will be two areas of interest for the current study. The first area of interest involves the mental health status of individuals who had experienced COVID-19 restrictions while over the age of 60. The purpose of this study is to further understand how mental health symptoms impacted older individuals during the coronavirus outbreak. The second area will focus on how interpersonal relationships were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. There is conflicting research in this area, and additional research can help to obtain a more concrete view of the issue moving forward. Further understanding of how pandemic restrictions impacted older individuals will help to improve conditions for this population during future pandemics.

Conducting this study can help to determine how restrictions impact interpersonal relationships between older individuals. Conducing a qualitative study will allow each participant to discuss their own feelings and experiences regarding the pandemic restrictions.

### **Research Question**

**RQ1:** How do the elderly describe their lived-experiences regarding the psychological effects of adhering to protective measures in place during the COVID-19 pandemic?

### **Setting**

Participants will be interviewed in secure interview rooms in the state of Virginia. Individuals over the age of 60 were chosen due to the possibility of a decline in the ability to interact with others. The researcher will use emails or phone calls to screen for potential participants. Elderly individuals were also chosen to participate in this study due to increased chances of contacting the COVID-19 virus. The researcher will use a secure laptop to record the interview and securely store the information. Once a participant has agreed to conduct the interview, the researcher obtain permission to set up a table in a private location and conduct the interview.

### **Participants**

The participants used in this study were drawn from a convenience sample of adults over the age of 60 currently residing in Virginia. Each eligible participant will have an equal chance of being used in the study. There will be a total of eight participants that will be interviewed regarding the direct impact of COVID-19 on their lives. Sampling of the population will follow exploratory research and will seek to better understand the population of individuals living in Virginia and their perceived mental health during the coronavirus outbreak. The target population will consist of individuals over age 60, living in Virginia. The study will consist of 00 males, and 00 females, and 00 ethnic backgrounds.

#### **Procedures**

The procedure for this study will be clearly defined and will be easy to follow. Before conducting any research, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) will grant permission for this study to be conducted. Obtaining permission will be crucial to assuring the participants that their rights are protected. A recruitment letter will be used to obtain permission from each participant. Participants will not be eligible for any type of incentive for participating in this study.

Data will be gathered through interviews and will be voice recorded. Only a voice recorder will be used to help maintain confidentiality of the participants. The same device will be used for all recordings to prevent any loss of data. The researcher will go into each identified secure room and interview each participant individually. The data collected will be stored anonymously and the consent form will be the only record linking the participant to the research.

### The Researcher's Role

The researcher will have no prior contact with any participant and will interview individuals over the age of 60. The researcher will ask each participant the same interview questions and allow them to elaborate on the responses. The researcher does have some biases, including the belief that social distancing is detrimental to mental health. To reduce these biases, each participant will be interviewed and encouraged to share their experiences with the COVID-19 pandemic. Each interview will be recorded to refrain from adding the researchers bias into the responses. The data will be coded to help identify any key themes found in the information provided by each participant. Once the data is gathered, the researcher will code the responses to determine what restrictions had the greatest impact on the individuals.

### **Data Collection**

This study will use semi-structured interviews as the primary source of gaining information. Each eligible participant will be given a brief period of time to discuss and describe their demographic information. This will be the only record that would link the participant to the research. Once the demographic information has been provided, each participant will then be asked the formal interview questions. The formal interview questions will be recorded, and each recording will be saved under a pseudonym instead of the participants name. The researcher will read each question to the participant and allow them to fully answer and respond to each question.

## **Interview Questions**

- 1. Tell me about your experiences with living with new procedures designed to keep you safe during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- 2. Tell me about your experiences during COVID-19 that changed your life and describe how you feel about those changes.
- 3. During the pandemic, what did your normal mood look like from the time you woke up until the time you went to bed?
- 4. Tell me about your experiences with living with COVID and how your daily routine changed during this time.
- 5. During COVID-19, most facilities required masks. Tell me about how wearing a mask affected you before and after the pandemic?
- 6. Share with me how the pandemic requirement of social distancing affected you during the pandemic and after the pandemic?

- 7. If you had COVID-19 can you describe your experiences from the time you tested positive until the time you tested negative?
- 8. Tell me about your ability to have visitors before, during, and after the pandemic.
- 9. Share with me your experiences with interacting with the staff before, after and during the pandemic.
- 10. Tell me about your experiences living with new procedures designed to keep you isolated from others during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Prior to recording each participant, a demographic survey will be conducted to determine age range, gender, marital status, and race. This portion will not be recorded to protect the identity of the participants. The questions have been worded simply to allow elderly individuals to fully understand what is being asked. Question 1 is a starting point and builds a path for the following interview questions (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013). Questions 2 through 5 were designed to find out how the participants acted and behaved in order to understand human cognition and emotion (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013).

Questions 6 through 9 are comparative questions that are aiming to gain more knowledge regarding the impact of the pandemic on the elderly population (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013). The questions are an attempt to learn more about the individual's thoughts prior to, during, and after the COVID-19 pandemic to determine any key differences. The last question is a miracle question that can allow the researcher to gauge the level of contact the participant had in regard to interacting with others. These questions will be asked to each participant to better understand their views and perspectives on the COVID-19 pandemic while they were living during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# **Data Analysis**

The data analysis will consist of obtaining data by interviewing each participant, verifying the data for accuracy, and making corrections to the data as specified by each participant (Taylor & Francis, 2013). The researcher will pay close attention to the story each participant tells and the way each participant shares their story. Once each description is placed into a thematic analysis category, the findings will be pooled and further studied and coded.

Selective coding will be used to identify interesting events, features, phases, or behaviors and distinguish them with a label (Given, 2008). The codes will then be re-worked to determine categories, relationships and patterns to help explain the phenomenon (Given, 2008). The researcher will use a coding frame that will help to lay out key concepts. The themes will be built from the codes and will be the output of the analytic process (Thematic Analysis, 2021). The coding frame is subject to change and will be refined as the data is collected (Given, 2008). The researcher will use in vivo codes that will be obtained directly from the participants to further understand the responses from each participant (Given, 2008).

The researcher will follow the Braun and Clark (2006) analysis to obtain a clear and concise data analysis. The researcher will read and re-read the transcripts and become familiar with all of the data provided (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Next, the researcher will start or organize the data by using an open coding approach (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). The data will continue to be developed and changed as the researcher works through the process of coding Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). The researcher will look for significant themes among the data and a table will be generated to organize the themes.

Once the significant themes are identified and the table is developed, the researcher will review the themes to ensure they make sense and each point is relevant to the theme (Maguire &

Delahunt, 2017). Once each theme is reviewed the researcher will start to identify what the core of each theme is about (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Once the essence of each theme is developed the researcher will write up the data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017).

### **Trustworthiness**

# Credibility

Glaser has expressed the importance of memoing and encouraged researchers to pause and record the idea (Glasser, 2008). Memoing will be used to assist the researcher in recalling concepts and relationships and will provide additional credibility to the study (Given, 2008). Each memo will be dated and referenced and will evolve as the research continues (Given, 2008). The researcher will also take notes while conducting interviews and each interview will be set up to allow the researcher to take notes while conducting the interview (Given, 2008).

## **Dependability and Confirmability**

To enhance dependability, the researcher will visit each facility prior to conducting any interviews. The researcher will also inquire about the rules and regulations of each facility prior to conducting research. The researcher will keep track of any alterations to the research design and will change the content as needed (Given, 2008). The researcher will also pay close attention to confirmability. The researcher will be aware of any biases and will conduct an audit trail to allow an independent reviewer to verify the research (Given, 2008).

# **Transferability**

To increase transferability, researchers should pay attention to how closely each participant is linked to the context being studied (Given, 2008). Previous research has shown that the elderly population is most susceptible to contracting the COVID-19 virus, therefore linking them to the COVID-19 pandemic. A thick description will be used to increase the transferability

of this study. The researcher will also discuss any contextual boundaries within the findings of this study (Given, 2008).

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The elderly population may be at an increased risk for ethical considerations due to age, possible illness, and susceptibility of contracting an illness or virus. The researcher will be sure to wear a mask and follow any guidelines of the assisted living facility. The interview questions will ensure there will be no psychological harm done while conducting each interview.

University guidelines will also be followed to ensure there is no harm done to each participant. A detailed application will be reviewed by the IRB prior to any research being conducted.

## Summary

This chapter focused on the methodology of this study. The research design will be a phenomenological study to help describe the lived-experiences of the elderly population during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this study is to understand the individuals experiences with the safety restrictions put in place to prevent the spread of COVID-19. Each interview will take place in a secure interview room with eight individuals over the age of 60. Data obtained from the interviews will be coded to determine any common themes or ideas presented from the gathered research. The researcher will take ethical considerations into account and ensure all research is approved by the proper institutions before research is conducted.

**Chapter Four: Findings** 

### Overview

The purpose of this study was to gain an increased understanding of how the elderly population was impacted by the protective measures put in place during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as to review and describe the various themes found within the data. This chapter will review and describe the study's participants based on their semi-structured interviews. Each participant was given a pseudonym to protect their identity.

Braun and Clark's analysis (2006) was used to find common themes among the data sets. To obtain the data, the researcher video recorded and transcribed each interview. Two pages of manuscript were produced for each question to help manage the data. Each interview question was assessed individually and themes began to develop. As the key points surfaced, they were color coded to keep track of the possible themes. After all the data was coded, three themes emerged. The first theme was the most straight forward theme and had one main idea. Theme two was broken down into a main theme and a sub theme. The last theme was also broken down, but consists of one main theme and three sub themes. As the three themes emerged, the color coding helped to identify the information provided in each interview that was used as evidenced to support each theme and sub theme.

# **Participants**

The overall sample size was eight participants between the age of 60 and 67. In addition, six of eight participants were Caucasian, while two were Black; no other ethnicities were included. The participants were located in a very conservative part of the country. Each participant completed a brief demographic interview and an in-person, audio- recorded interview. Participants were assigned a pseudonym to protect their identity. The following

pseudonyms were assigned to each participant and for the purposes of this study: Roger, Fred, Ethan, Liz, Kevin, Karen, Lauren, and Joan. Each participant participated in a 30-45-minute audio-recorded interview and was asked the same interview questions.

### Roger

At the time of the interview, Roger was 61 years old. Roger is a Caucasian male who resides in Virginia. Roger is married and currently works as a manufacturing engineer. Roger's highest level of education is high school. Roger's interview suggested that he did not enjoy the COVID-19 mandates and had difficulty applying the mandates in the work place and other environments. He did not express any concern or fear of catching COVID-19.

### Fred

At the time of the interview, Fred was 63 years old. Fred is a Caucasian male currently residing in Virginia. Fred is married and is currently employed in a sales position. Fred's highest level of education is a bachelor's degree. Fred also reported difficulty finding the motivation to comply with the COVID-19 mandates. He maintained a nonchalant attitude about catching the COVID-19 virus and did not share any mental health concerns related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

### Ethan

Ethan is a 64-year-old Caucasian male. He is currently working as a manager at a manufacturing company. Ethan is married and his highest level of education is a bachelor's degree. Ethan's interview suggested that he followed the COVID-19 mandates to prevent others from potentially catching the virus as he did not want to spread the virus to others.

### Liz

Liz is a 67-year-old African American female currently residing in Virginia. She is currently retired, but worked in a construction business during the COVID-19 pandemic. Liz is married and her highest level of education is a high school diploma. Liz's interview suggested that she did have a fear of catching and spreading the COVID-19 virus and identified her age as a concern regarding her fear of the virus.

#### Kevin

Kevin is a 61-year-old African American male currently residing in Virginia. He is currently works in the trucking business and is married. Kevin's highest level of education is a high school diploma. During Kevin's interview, he shared that he complied with the COVID-19 mandates and intentionally made sure he followed the mandates and felt that they were helpful in preventing the spread of COVID-19 virus.

#### Karen

Karen is a 62-year-old Caucasian female currently residing in Virginia. She is not working due to being laid off recently. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Karen did not work at all and could not share any information relating to how the COVID-19 impacted any of her employment. Karen is divorced and her highest level of education is a high school diploma. Karen expressed a fear of contracting the COVID-19 virus but was also pleased when the mandates were over as she did not feel like they were successfully managing the spread of the COVID-19 virus.

### Lauren

Lauren is a 61-year-old Caucasian female currently residing in Virginia. She is married and currently employed at a bank. Her highest level of education is a high school diploma.

Lauren's interview suggested that she was not concerned with following the COVID-19 mandates and provided data to suggest that the mandates did not impact her mental health or ability to function at work or in other types of environments. Lauren also expressed that trying to wear protective masks was not a concern when she was at work or in any other types of environments.

### Joan

Joan is a 63-year-old Caucasian female currently residing in Virginia. She is married and works for a cleaning service. Joan's highest level of education is a high school diploma. Joan also expressed that she was not concerned with the mask mandates and did not think they were successful at managing the spread of the COVID-19 virus.

#### **Results**

The data were collected by using video- recorded interviews with each participant, and as the data were obtained, they were re-played to determine potential themes. After the researcher became familiar with the data, a two-page manuscript was developed for each individual and question.

The first step was becoming familiar with the data by listening to each interview. Second, the researcher identified repetitions and patterns. Color coding was used to help manage the data and keep track of how the themes developed. The third step was to generate initial themes and shift them into macro connections that could develop into broader patterns of meaning. The last step of the data analysis was to refine and combine themes. Once this process took place three times, the themes developed and evidence for each theme was present.

The researcher started the theme-building process by clustering labels to capture interesting data. The coding was done systematically and each data item was given equal

attention. Once the codes were organized and clustered appropriately, the researcher began to review the codes to identify potential themes. The researcher found semantic codes that captured the surface meaning of the data. Once the three themes were identified, the researcher began to study the relationship between the themes.

Table 1

Themes Found and How They Relate to Mental Health and Interpersonal Relationships

Mental Health Interpersonal Relationships

- Ivientai Heartii	interpersonal relationships
	_
Theme 1	Theme 2
Theme 3	

There were three themes that emerged from the data given by the participants. The first theme that was identified was that there was a return to normalcy. Participants demonstrated that once the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions were lifted, moods, attitudes, and behaviors started to return to pre-pandemic levels. This theme was developed from participants reporting that once the restrictions were lifted, life started to go back to "normal." The second theme identified was the idea that there was a status quo at home. This theme developed due to participants experiencing minimal changes in routines at home, but significant changes in routines when at work. The last theme identified was that participants described a sense of safety at home. Participants seemed to enjoy their time more when they were at home in comparison to being at work or in other social spaces that were operating and open at that time.

There was no evidence to suggest that participants incorporated religious faith to shape their attitudes toward COVID-19. Participants did not express using their religious faith during

the COVID-19 pandemic. There was also no data to support the idea that political viewpoints affected their attitudes toward COVID-19 and COVID-19 policy.

# A Return to Normalcy

The first theme emerged with the central organizing concept being the idea that moods and attitudes started to shift back to pre-pandemic levels once restrictions were lifted. There was meaningful data collected to suggest that participants' moods and behaviors changed during the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, but started to shift back after restrictions were no longer mandated. Six of the participants discussed that they were not "worried" or "scared" at the onset of the COIVD-19 pandemic. However, two participants reported that they were "afraid" of catching the virus and as a result their moods changed to a more worried state. The same six participants also reported that once restrictions were lifted, they started to revert back to their original ways of life which enhanced their moods as they were "happy" to go back to living their lives with no restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. All participants reported that they were able to manage moods that reflected how they felt prior to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Roger shared the following: "After the restrictions were lifted I was happy! I was tired of wearing a mask and following the other mandates. I tried to get back to normal as soon as I could, and that's exactly I what I did." This data suggests that Rogers mood was improved as a result of the lifted restrictions. He also went on to say, "When I had to follow restrictions I felt irritated and angry. I was relieved when it was over." This data also supports the idea that Roger's mood improved after the COVID-19 restrictions were lifted. Roger shared that after the pandemic mandates were lifted, he was able to go back to activities he participated in prior to the pandemic, such as going back to the gym with his work out partners.

Parts of Fred's transcripts suggest that his moods were improved once the mandates were lifted. Fred shared that he felt "bored and isolated" from others during the COVID-19 pandemic mandates. He shared:

most of my socialization happened when I was at work; during COVID, my communication with my co-workers decreased. It was not until after the mandates were lifted that I started to feel happier at home and at work because I was able to connect with others.

Fred's interview suggested that his moods and ability to socialize with others increased after the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions were lifted. Fred and Roger both presented data that suggested that they started to shift back to pre-pandemic behaviors and moods once restrictions were lifted. Other participants agreed that their lives changed during COVID-19, but after the restrictions were lifted they were able to go back to their original behaviors and moods before the pandemic restrictions were put in place. Ethan described his life as going back to "normal" once the restrictions were lifted and people were free to travel and do activities they were unable to do in the height of the pandemic. Ethan's interview described that most of the changes he experienced happened in environments other than at home. A quote from Ethan supports the idea that behaviors and moods returned to pre-pandemic functioning.

Before the constraints I felt good and happy most of the time and did what I needed to do.

During COVID-19, I was constrained and I felt added stress. After the pandemic, things started to open up and I have been able to feel better and feel relieved that I can do things I enjoyed before the pandemic.

Data gathered from Ethan's interview suggests that his mood changed after the restrictions were lifted and started to go back to pre-pandemic norms.

Some data collected that suggested that a few participants were worried about catching the virus when the mandates were in place. Liz described that "when the mandates were set for us to all follow, that made me scared and I started to worry that things could get really bad." Her transcripts continued to suggest that her mood improved once the mandates were no longer in place. Liz stated:

When the mandates were lifted I was so happy! I was sick of following them and by the time they decided to lift them I was just happy that I did not have to follow them anymore and I didn't think about getting sick.

Although Liz was one of the two participants who described feeling scared, the data she provided still suggested that her mood changed and then started to return to pre-pandemic levels once restrictions were lifted.

A majority of the participants talked about their mental health being relatively good during the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. There was no mention of being diagnosed with any type of mental health disorder or reports of any symptoms related to common mental health disorders, although the interview questions did not specifically ask if participants had any mental health diagnosis prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. A quote from Fred helps to demonstrate that participants were able to maintain their mental health functioning during the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. "I was able to stay in good spirits by just rolling with it and not getting stressed out. Life is too short; I will either die from it or I will be ok." Liz and Karen were the only two participants that mentioned feeling scared of the COVID-19 virus.

During Lauren's interview, she expressed that she was more concerned with "when" the mandates would be lifted instead of "worrying about if they would be lifted." Lauren shared that she knew things would go back to normal, it was just a matter of time. She also expressed that

she felt more concerned with how the mandates would impact others, especially children, rather than feeling concerned with when the mandates would be lifted. Lauren expressed that seeing children out of school and daycare was "upsetting" and "not normal for children". During the research phase, Joan also expressed similar concerns regarding returning to normalcy. Joan shared that she was "angry" at the idea that "children were out of school, jobs shut down, and businesses closed." She expressed a concern for the "good of the entire country". Both Joan and Lauren expressed a concern for the entire country due to businesses shutting down and people not being able to work and support themselves and their families.

Participants expressed their concerns about the importance of returning to previous attitudes and behaviors. Some participants even verbalized a desire to return back to prepandemic lifestyles as a response of concern for the entire country. Data suggested that participants followed guidelines and restrictions but hoped there would be an end to the restrictions at some point in time. Participants expressed that they did not enjoy following the guidelines, but complied with them during the COVID-19 pandemic. Once guidelines and restrictions were lifted, participants shared that they had minimal difficulty going back to previous behaviors and attitudes.

### Status Quo at Home

The second theme identified after coding and clustering participants was the idea that most changes in routines were found in the workplace. A large part of each interview discussed how the changes in the workplace impacted participants' ability to work and their attitudes toward going to work. Each participant discussed how their work routine changed, with the exception of Karen who did not work during the COVID-19 pandemic. This theme can be

broken into two different categories—the changes that took place at home and the changes that took place at work.

Participants expressed that they enjoyed their time at home more than they had prior to the pandemic due to being able to feel free and not having any guidelines to follow. About half of the participants shared that they continued to have visitors come to their home. This half of the participants expressed that there were more conversations among visitors questioning if people were feeling well or if they had been showing any symptoms that were related to the COVID-19 virus. Once the potential visitors denied any symptoms, they would get together as they had in the past. The other half of the participants expressed that they did not have company over to their homes much in the past, and that did not change during the COVID-19 pandemic. The same participants expressed that most of their family was not local and they typically communicated through other ways such as phone calls and FaceTime.

Data gathered from interview question number four assisted in developing the status quo at home theme. This question inquired about how each participant's daily routine changed during the COVID-19 pandemic. Most of the participants reported that there was no change to their daily routine while they were at home, but there were significant changes in their places of employment. The central organizing concept for this theme is that changes at home were minimal, but changes at work were significant. A large majority of the participants reported that work changed completely and there were specific mandates put in place specific to each job role. Each participant had different policies to follow while at work due to variety in jobs and responsibilities.

Roger, Fred, Ethan, Liz, and Lauren all described the changes in the workplace as the most significant. Roger stated that his job was "disrupted" and due to the limitations set in the

workplace, it was hard to "keep business going." He also shared that he did not feel like the mandates put in place at work were efficient at reducing the spread of the COVID-19 virus. He continued to share thoughts that align with the idea that keeping up with the mandates at work and in other environments was enough to make him want to spend most of his time in his own home.

Fred shared that his job included traveling to maintain sales and that during the COVID-19 pandemic, he was not able to travel. Fred shared that there were strict mandates put in place at his job that also made the parts of his job he was able to do even harder to manage and maintain. He shared that throughout the COVID-19 pandemic he was able to maintain his job, but saw how other people he knew were unable to work at all. Fred expressed being "thankful" that he was able to still have a position at his company and that he "tried to make the best out of the experience." Fred shared an optimistic approach to the COVID-19 pandemic and made it clear that he did not let the mandates and the threat of catching the COVID-19 virus take over his ability to be happy.

Ethan reported that "work changed completely" and there were several restrictions put in place that kept the company employees "disconnected" from each other. Ethan's attitude toward the COVID-19 pandemic was similar to Fred's. They both seemed to adapt to the changes and although they did not feel like the strict mandates were needed, they were able to follow the mandates and put their best efforts forward to continue their jobs. Ethan expressed that he felt more comfortable while he was at home. He expressed that he did not have many visitors come to his home before the pandemic, so during the COVID-19 pandemic things did not change that much inside of his home. Ethan shared that it was primarily himself and his wife who were in the home and there were some visitors that would stop by on holidays and for special occasions.

When Ethan wanted to have company over for special occasions, he would ask if anyone had felt sick and would let people know if anyone in his household was experiencing any cold-like symptoms to do his part in preventing the spread.

Participants found themselves experiencing additional stressors at work due to the significant mandates put in place by their current employers such as social distancing and being required to wear a mask. Liz talked about how she became fearful of contracting the virus at work due to minimal protective factors implemented by her workplace. Roger described that mandates he was required to follow at work produced anger. The anger was due to not being able to efficiently manage his job duties due to having to follow the mandates required by his employer.

Liz shared that most of the changes she experienced happened at work or at the grocery store. During Liz's interview, she discussed how her stress levels increased while at work due to fear of catching the disease and the precautions her company put in place to help reduce the spread. Liz said:

I was scared of catching COVID at work at first and the precautions my company put in place just did not seem like they were helpful. They put up plastic dividers to help limit face- to- face talking, but it never worked because we had to go around the dividers to hear what others were saying.

Liz stated that the policies put in place at work started to:

increase my stress because I had additional rules to follow, but none of them made sense. I tried to just stay to myself while at work and I tried to prevent catching COVID by just staying to myself at work.

Roger had similar feelings about the COVID-19 mandates put in place at his current employer. Roger shared that his company's policies changed to limit physical distance as much as possible. Roger explained:

I was not able to do my job as efficiently as I was in the past. Meetings were not held and if they were held only four people could be in the meeting room at a time. This slowed down my ability to meet with my team of workers and discuss or fix any problems or issues.

Data gathered from Kevin's interview suggested that his routine was changed due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, but in a different way than the other participants. Kevin worked as a truck driver during the COVID-19 pandemic. He shared that "I had to work more than I've had to in a long time. I usually work part-time, but during the pandemic I was working overtime each week." He continued to share that "my work load doubled and, in some cases, tripled." As a result of his work increasing, his face- to- face interactions with his family decreased, as he was often not at home. Kevin shared that his behaviors went from being "moderately busy to extremely busy while working." Kevin also discussed his home life as being "quiet like it always is. I don't have many visitors, but that has nothing to do with the pandemic or anything like that."

Responses from Joan also help to displayed how the second theme was constructed. Joan shared that she experienced a few changes in her job when working during the COVID-19 pandemic. Joan described her job changes:

I had to wear a mask even though I was the only person in a house at a time. I thought it was ridiculous to have to wear a mask when I was the only one in the home, but that was

the company policy. Sometimes I didn't even wear the mask, but I did if others were around.

Joan also described her home as being "the place I went to feel comfortable and normal. I could do what I wanted at home and nobody was able to tell me otherwise." Joan's interview provided data to suggest that she experienced more changes while at work than she did in her home.

### Safety at Home

The data suggested that participants enjoyed their time at home more than they did when they were out in the community. This theme was broken down into three categories: enjoying time at home more due to not feeling like one would catch the virus, enjoying their time more due to not having to follow restrictions and guidelines, and the idea that the workplace was a less desirable place to be.

The last theme was identified in interview question number six. This question inquired about how social distancing impacted each participant. The central organizing concept for this theme was the idea that participants enjoyed their time more when they were at home in comparison to work or other social spaces. Participants discussed the reasons behind feeling more at ease when they were at home. Question five was geared towards finding out how participants felt about wearing a mask in the workplace. Most participants described that wearing a mask did not impact them in the workplace. Liz was the only participant to describe how wearing a mask "made it difficult to breathe." Five of the participants admitted to not wearing the mask properly on purpose in order to talk and breathe efficiently while at work. This data suggests that the individuals were impacted by wearing a mask while at work. Participants followed up with sharing that wearing a mask made it more uncomfortable to be in the workplace.

Participants also described that they did not wear masks while they were at home and they were able to "enjoy" their time at home due to not having to wear a mask. This theme was also related to question number eight which asked about how having visitors at home was affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Fred described that he was the happiest when at home due to "not having to follow any rules or guidelines set by others." Liz also reported to be the happiest while at home and shared that she was "scared to go to work and the grocery store" due to fear of catching the virus.

Fred's interview also suggested that following the mandates at his job became a stressor to him and his co-workers and supervisees. Fred described his job as being a supervisor role. He went into detail about how having to enforce the mandates caused tension at work. He also shared that some of his supervisees wanted the mandates to be enforced while others viewed the mandates as a stressor and not being effective at preventing the spread of the COVID-19 virus.

During Liz's interview, it was clear that she was fearful of catching the COVID-19 virus when she was at work and when she was at the grocery store. Liz expressed that she became irritable at the individuals who did not take the mask mandate seriously. One reason why she was particularly worried about catching the COVID-19 virus was her age. During her interview, Liz shared that her co-workers were much younger than her and identified her age as a concern because she felt like she was more susceptible to catching the virus.

Lauren's data suggested that wearing a mask correctly was not a concern and that following the mask mandates did not impact her mental or emotional state. Lauren shared that she "did not care about wearing the mask the right way. Sometimes I would tuck it under my chin or would take one ear out of the holder and let the mask fall down alongside my face." She also went on to share:

wearing the mask did not make me feel any safer from catching the virus. I wore the mask when I had to when I was at work and that was the only place I wore it, except for a few other places that required a mask.

Lauren's interview provided data to suggest that wearing a mask did not impact her functioning.

Joan's interview also suggests that wearing the mask correctly was not a concern and that it did not impact her emotional or mental state. Joan shared that she wore the mask when she felt others were able to see, but did not wear it as her company advised her to do. Joan shared that her company mandated that a mask be worn while in the home that she was cleaning at all times. Joan described the experience as follows: "My company wanted us to wear a mask when nobody else was around. I was considerate when others were around, but if I was in a home by myself I took the mask off." Joan also described how wearing a mask made it uncomfortable to work and how being at home was a more comfortable place to be: "Having to wear a mask was annoying and so were the other policies they had designated us to follow. After working all day, I was ready to come home and be able to do what I wanted to do."

Karen shared that since she did not work, she was not impacted by any mandates in the workplace, but there was evidence to suggest that she found home the most comfortable place to be during the COVID-19 pandemic. Karen stated:

Well, I did not work during the pandemic, but my time at home did not change much. I liked being in my house better than going out into the community because I did not have to follow the pandemic rules and I knew I couldn't catch COVID at home alone.

Karen also reported that she contracted COVID-19, but she was not sure how she got the virus because most of her days were spent at home Karen mentioned using delivery services to reduce contact with others to help prevent her from contracting COVID-19.

## **Research Question**

The research question for this study asked: *How do the elderly describe their lived- experiences with the psychological effects of adhering to protective measures in place during the COVID-19 pandemic?* The data suggests that participants were able to experience the same moods as they had prior to the COVID-19 pandemic once mandates and restrictions were lifted.

Furthermore, the most significant changes in behaviors took place in the workplace. The first theme gathered from the data addresses the mental health aspect of the study, while themes two and three deal with the interpersonal relationships the participants were able to maintain during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# **Summary**

Once interviews were complete and pseudonyms were assigned to participants, the researcher used the Braun and Clark's (2006) thematic analysis to develop themes and sub themes. The researcher documented two pages of manuscript for each participant's response to each interview question. The data was reviewed and was color-coded to help manage and include all significant data. Data were sorted and eventually three themes were formed. The first theme consisted of just once concept, while the second theme consisted of one theme with two sub-themes. The last theme consisted of one theme and three sub-themes.

The first theme identified was that after the COVID-19 restrictions were lifted participants were able to go back to the same routines and ways of life they had prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Data from the participants were coded and the theme emerged due to most participants providing evidence that moods and behaviors started to go back to the way they were prior to the outbreak of the virus and the implementation of the mandates. The central

organizing theme was that moods and attitudes started to revert back to pre-pandemic functioning once mandates were lifted.

The second theme identified was that most of the changes in routines occurred in the workplace and not at home. Participants reported feeling more relaxed and safer at home than they did at work or in the community. This idea can be further researched to determine if others felt safer in the home and felt less safe while at work or out in the community.

The last theme was that participants felt more at ease while they were in their own homes and routines at home did not change due to the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. The central organizing concept of this theme was the idea that participants felt more comfortable at home due to not having to wear a mask or follow other mandates. After all the data was coded, the central organizing concepts were formed and became the foundational pieces to determine the three themes that emerged from the data of this study.

## **Chapter Five: Conclusion**

#### Overview

The focus of this study was to determine if the data suggests a relationship between lived experiences and psychological effects from the protective measures mandated during the COVID-19 pandemic among individuals aged 60 and older. This study was designed to gain insight regarding psychological responses of following the mandates put in place during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study followed a phenomenological approach to gain insight on how participants described their lived experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Braun and Clark's (2006) analysis was used to help the researcher analyze the data. A manuscript from each question was generated to accurately code the data to form themes. The researcher found three themes consisting of a return to normalcy, status quo at home, and safety at home.

This section will provide a description of how the data supports and does not support the findings from previous studies on how COVID-19 mandates impacted the lives of others. A summary of the findings of this study will be presented in this chapter. An explanation of the findings of this study will also be presented, along with how the findings relate to research previously conducted. The implications and recommendations will also be discussed to help navigate and inspire future research. The last part of this chapter will consist of recommendations and thoughts on future research in this area.

# **Summary of Findings**

This study was designed to gain more insight on how the mandates impacted lived experiences and identify common themes among the data. The main three themes were described as a return to normalcy, status quo at home, and safety at home. The data suggests that serious mental health conditions did not arise for participants during the implementation of the mandates

and restrictions. This could possibly be due to the small sample size and the population of individuals studied. The participants in this study were able to manage their mental health by focusing on getting through the pandemic. Many of the participants expressed an attitude of "when things get better" instead of "will things get better." Participants also expressed that they were not particularly scared of catching COVID-19 and reported that if they caught the virus they would deal with it and get over it like they had done previously when they contracted a cold or other virus throughout their lives.

Participants were able to manage their mental health symptoms and there was no data to suggest that mental health declined or improved during the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants expressed a common worry of spreading the COVID-19 virus to others, but seemed less concerned with catching the COVID-19 virus themselves. A large number of the participants shared that they were typically around older individuals and they were concerned about spreading the virus to their older relatives or friends.

The data also suggested that interpersonal functioning was impacted mostly in the workplace. During the interviews, most participants shared that the most significant changes in their routines occurred during work hours. Different mandates were put in place depending on job roles. None of the participants reported that their job was shut down or stopped for a period of time when the COVID-19 virus started to peak where the participants were located.

The first theme of a return to normalcy was developed off of the central organizing concept of the data that suggested that moods and attitudes started to shift back to pre-pandemic levels once the restrictions were removed. The interview questions were worded in a way that participants were able to share their lived experiences before, during, and after the COVID-19 pandemic. After the data was collected and coded, the researcher was able to conclude that most

participants described a return to normalcy after mandates were lifted. Participants described that they felt restricted during the COVID-19 pandemic mandates. Some participants did not attend certain environments due to the mandates, such as the mask mandate. Some of the participants had issues with the mask mandates including difficulty breathing, a lack of knowledge on how to wear a mask correctly, and confusion on what rule or law to follow when carrying a weapon, as was mentioned by Roger. Participants described that they felt a sense of relief when the mandates were lifted. After the mandates were lifted, participants shared that they felt more at ease going into the community and felt less restricted due to their ability to choose if they wanted to follow a mandate or not.

The second theme was developed with the central organizing concept that most changes took place outside of the home and in the workplace. Participants described that the ways they carried out their jobs changed during the COVID-19 pandemic. During interviews, participants expressed that once the COVID-19 virus hit their area their workplace adopted several mandates for them to follow. The mandates included wearing a mask, social distancing, talking behind barriers, reduction in traveling, and only allowing a certain number of people allowed in a room at a time.

Participants shared that there was a wide variety of mandates that had to be followed by the entire company or agency. Several participants had jobs that required travel and face-to-face contact. One particular participant described his job as having as much as 75% travel. This participant shared that he was not able to do a large part of his job, which often left him wondering if his job position would maintained during the COVID-19 pandemic. He reported that he did not do a lot of worrying about it as he was near the age of retirement and did not have to worry about financial stability.

As other participants described how these changes impacted them at work, they shared a common theme of feeling more at ease at home and enjoyment feeling less restricted.

Participants shared that keeping up with the mandates at their workplaces made it harder to complete their job and communicate with others. Participants discussed that wearing a mask became a barrier to communication and was also uncomfortable to have to wear all day while they were at work. One participant verbalized that she was required to wear a mask for her entire shift while she was alone in a home as she completed her work there. Many participants discussed that they believed the mandates were not helpful during the COVID-19 pandemic, but they tried to follow them in order to keep their jobs.

The last theme that was identified was the idea that there was a sense of safety while in one's own home. The central organizing concept was the idea that participants felt less restricted and more at ease while in the privacy of their own homes due to not having to follow mandates, feeling more at ease about not spreading the virus, and the decreased likelihood of contracting the disease.

Participants described the idea of feeling free from mandates and noted that having to follow certain mandates in different places created a sense of serenity while at home. Participants shared that wearing a mask became a barrier and as time passed, they became increasingly annoyed with having to constantly wear a mask. Some participants admitted to purposely wearing the mask wrong to help improve communication, breathing, and feeling displeased over the idea of wearing a mask.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, participants reported that while they were at home, they felt as if they were not going to potentially spread the COVID-19 virus. A large amount of data collected by the participants suggested that the study participants were concerned with stopping

the spread of the virus. Many of the participants expressed a concern for others that may be older or in a poorer state of health and how they would respond to contracting the COVID-19 virus. Participants shared that they tended to stay home more to help prevent the spread of COVID-19.

Participants also shared the idea that they felt less likely to contract the COVID-19 virus while they were in their homes, and many did not have many visitors during the COVID-19 pandemic (which was not out of the ordinary as they reported they did not have many visitors come to their homes prior to the COVID-19 outbreak). Some of the participants discussed how they thought the only real preventative measure to prevent the spread of the COVID-19 virus was to stay at home. Participants shared that staying at home was not difficult for them, but there were times when they wanted to go out and do things but were not able to. Several of the male participants discussed wanting to go to the gym. These participants also shared that they tried their best to recreate the gym at home to prevent muscle loss and weight gain.

The research question relating to the lived-experiences and psychological effects, was designed to find out more about how people over the age of 60 described their experiences with the protective measures put in place during the COVID-19 pandemic. The results of the study suggested that significant changes in mood and routine took place in the workplace. The data also suggested that being at home was the most comfortable place for participants and moods seemed to be happier when participants were in their own homes. The majority of the participants did not report a significant fear or any mental health issues during the COVID-19 pandemic and after. Future research could be conducted to determine if other populations experienced any increased mental health issues or onset of any mental health issues during this time.

There are limited studies that have been conducted on older individuals and the impact of the COVID-19 mandates on their psychological wellbeing. Previous research affirmed that people over the age of 65 were considered high-risk during the COVID-19 pandemic (Yıldırım, 2021). The current study did not determine any intense fears about being in a high-risk category during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is not surprising since many of the participants were under the age of 65 and therefore did not meet the age risk criteria. A few participants in the study discussed a fear of catching the virus and going out in the community during the onset of the pandemic. As more was learned about the virus, participants began to worry less and developed a more positive outlook on contracting the disease and being able to manage the symptoms.

## **Discussion**

Previous research suggested that the elderly population is at an increased risk of feeling lonely or isolated during times of quarantine, as well as having an increased risk of contracting COVID-19 (Jecker, 2020). The current study suggests that participants were able to manage and maintain their mental health symptoms and did not report an increase in isolation or loneliness during this time. The participants of this study demonstrated a positive attitude and outlook on living with the threat of catching a potentially deadly virus. The findings of this study match the findings from Yu et al. (2022), who found that older adults reported less anxiety, stress, and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic in comparison to younger adults aged 21-59.

One study found that the elderly population experienced increased loneliness during the pandemic as a result of not having as much physical contact as they had in the past (Yıldırım, 2021). The data from this study showed otherwise and concluded that older individuals seemed to have used their resources and attempted to manage their loneliness through other avenues. The

participants in this study reported that they did not have much face-to-face contact at home from individuals other than their significant others before the COVID-19 pandemic started. Future research could focus on if the findings could be due to the difference in population age, as many of the subject in this study were employed and therefore had some contact with co-workers as well as customers.

Dziedzic et al. (2021) found that individuals who were unemployed and those who were living alone tended to experience increased anxiety and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions. The participants in the current study were married and not living alone during the COVID-19 pandemic. All were all working with the exception of one participant, and they remained employed for most of the pandemic. This could be a topic for future studies to help determine what living factors played a significant role in the mental health of older individual's during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Other data has suggested that the elderly population is at the greatest risk of dying from the COVID-19 virus (Jecker, 2020). Although the current study did not assess for risk of death, the data suggests that some of the participants were not concerned with catching the virus, but were more concerned with spreading the virus to others. Participants did not describe any thoughts of death during interviews or express any death-related concerns; however, there were no interview questions based on individuals' feelings regarding dying from the COVID-19 virus in the current study.

Fordyce and Smith (2022) found that isolation and not having visitors was the hardest aspect of the COVID-19 pandemic for participants to manage. The current study did not suggest that the frequency of having visitors was reduced due to the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions.

The study did find that some participants had visitors continue to come to their homes regardless

of the recommendations to remain socially distant. The current study shows that participants either never stopped having visitors or did not have any regular visitors come to their homes prior to the pandemic.

Previous studies have found that during the COVID-19 pandemic, older adults were found to have a higher quality of life, more life satisfaction, and more overall well-being in comparison to younger adults (Huynh et al., 2022). This study did not compare quality of life among different age groups, but there were some correlations from the Huynh et al.'s (2022) study. This study did not find any reason to suggest there was a decline in life satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic among older adults. The participants in this study discussed some fears of spreading the virus, but overall were able to manage their moods and attitudes during the COVID-19 pandemic

The findings from this study can add to the current literature by demonstrating that mandates during the COVID-19 pandemic had minimal significant impacts on psychological functioning of individuals over the age of 60. The current study findings are comparable to the work done by MacDonald et al. (2021) who found that depression rates were lower among individuals aged 65 and older in comparison to individuals aged 44 or younger. Much of the current research has been conducted on children to middle-aged adults. The current study helps to gain insight on how the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions impacted the elderly population/individuals over age 60.

This study can also add to the theoretical framework for cognitive behavioral theories.

The current study demonstrated how thoughts can impact moods and behaviors. The participants reported being able to accept both the pandemic and its consequences. Participants tended to

have a positive outlook on their ability to live through the pandemic, which may have helped them maintain healthy mental functioning.

# **Implications**

Using the topic of this study can help to extend the theoretical framework for policymakers and counselors. Understanding how individuals over age 60 respond to mandates and social distancing can help to shape and define future mandates in times of crisis. Due to the increased risk of contracting a virus, this population of people need to understand the physical and mental implications that may arise during a future pandemic. Knowing and understanding this data can help policymakers take mental health and loneliness into consideration when implementing future mandates. Counselors can also benefit from continued research on how mandates impact mental health so they can become more abreast on how individuals are impacted by pandemics and pandemic mandates.

Learning more about how mandates impact individuals' mental, physical, and psychological functioning can also help individuals make more informed choices during any future pandemics. This information can also assist teachers and parents in making informed choices regarding themselves and their children and how to balance the different aspects of life that may be impacted during a future pandemic. This could also help doctors and nurses directly address mental health via treatment plans.

A Christian worldview can be applied to help learn more about the effects of pandemic restrictions and religion. Ministers and preachers can help educate the population if they have more knowledge on how mental health is impacted by limitations and mandates designed to maintain isolation. Churches and organizations can adopt and implement services that can help

reach their audience without face-to-face contact. Having policies and procedures in place can be helpful in times of an emergency if they are clearly defined and ready to be implemented.

### Limitations

Limitations of the study are found in the sample size and the type of data analysis that was used. The sample size of eight participants is not a large enough sample to generalize the data. The participants were all also limited to living in the state of Virginia, which could sway the results of the data. Other states mandated different techniques to reduce the spread of the COVID-19 virus, which were not assessed or accounted for in this study.

Other limitations include the method in which the data was obtained and interpreted. Data was collected through face-to face interviews and were voice recorded. Therefore, body language and emotions were not able to be assessed and added into the data collection. The researcher used thematic analysis to form themes among the data. Thematic analysis is growing more widely accepted, but the approach may not be strong enough to make or interpret generalizations. The research gathered did not look at the relationships between the themes or the implications from the data.

A delimitation of this study is the population of people used to obtain the data. Individuals over the age of 60 were surveyed due to their increased risk of contracting the COVID-19 virus during the pandemic. Other limitations are present and should be acknowledged. The participants all reported no prior history of any mental health conditions which may not be representative of the larger population of individuals aged 60 and over. Lastly, the structured interview could have limited additional information that may have been significant to the results of the study.

Another limitation of this study was the timeframe in which data was collected. Much of the literature used to compare results were completed at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, during the pandemic, and during the second wave of the pandemic. The current study was conducted after the COVID-19 pandemic and therefore may have impacted the results of this study. Interviews also carry the risk of being misunderstood and allow the researcher to make biased conclusions on how a participant felt or about the ideas they were expressing.

Another possible limitation of this study is the direct access to healthcare. The participants of this study all had access to healthcare or were in a position to be able to afford health care. The inability to receive healthcare was not considered during this study.

#### Recommendations

The current study provides a glimpse into the elderly and their responses to the COVID-19 pandemic mandates. Future research is important and can be helpful during future pandemics or world events that may put limitations or restrictions on daily activities. Additional research can help to determine how to put mandates in place that take mental health and social isolation into consideration. New mandates may reflect the idea of preventing the spread of any disease and implementing ways to manage mental health. Future research could also focus on how to prevent additional stressors that come along with mandates in the workplace, as well as examining different age groups to determine if wearing a mask over their face impacted mental health. Other recommendations include conducting research in different areas to find out more about how certain mandates impacted the lived experiences and ultimately psychological states of individuals living there.

Future research can be conducted on populations that have been previously diagnosed with mental health or psychiatric disorders to determine if that population is at a higher risk of

being negatively impacted by isolation and other mandates that may be used during the time of a pandemic. This research could also focus on the utilization of social supports to determine if they decrease or remain the same for the elderly population when restrictions of quarantine are put into place.

Longitudinal studies may be helpful to obtain more accurate data in regards to how the elderly population responded to the COVID-19 pandemic overall. There have not been many longitudinal studies conducted to determine how the elderly population was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The current study was not a longitudinal study; therefore, the results may have been significantly different if the interviews were conducted during the time of the COVID-19 pandemic.

# **Summary**

The purpose of this study was to obtain more information on the lived experiences of individual's over the age of 60 and their psychological effects associated with adhering to protective measures mandated during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study paid particular attention to mental health and interpersonal relationships during the COVID-19 pandemic. The data was gathered using semi-structured interviews and manuscripts created from each participant's response to the research questions asked. The data was collected and then coded by following Braun and Clark's (2006) analysis.

From the data, three themes emerged: moods and attitudes returning to previous levels of functioning, identifying that the most significant changes in participants' lives took place at work, and the idea that participants felt there was a sense of normalcy once mandates were lifted. The limitations of this study include sample size and location of the participants being centered in the state of Virginia. Another possible limitation could be the age of the participants, as they

were all over the age of 60. There were other limitations that may have impacted the data, such as ability or inability to obtain healthcare. The particular population used in this study did not live alone and were employed, with the exception of one participant, during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The data collected from this study contradicted previous research in the area of having visitors in the home. Other studies have found that not being able to have visitors was one of the most difficult parts of the COVID-19 pandemic mandates and social supports played a protective role (Guloglu, 2022). This study suggested that there was not much change in regards to having visitors, as there were minimal visitors coming to the participants' homes prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. This study did, however, find similar results when being compared to the research done by MacDonald et al.'s (2021) research, who found that depression and other mental health illness were much lower among individuals over the age of 65 than individuals between ages 45 and 65.

## References

- Adams, S. H., Park, M. J., Schaub, J. P., Brindis, C. D., & Irwin, C. E. (2020). Medical vulnerability of young adults to severe COVID-19 illness Data from the National Health Interview Survey. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *67*(3), 362–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.06.025
- Alhalaseh, L., Kasasbeh, F., Al-Bayati, M., Haikal, L., Obeidat, K., Abuleil, A., & Wilkinson, I. (2022). Loneliness and depression among community older adults during the Covid -19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study. *Psychogeriatrics*, 22(4), 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyg.12833
- Alvesson, M., & Sandberg, J. (2013). The context of constructing and formulating research questions. In Constructing research questions. In E. E. Editor & F. F. Editor (Eds.) *Constructing research questions: Doing interesting research* (pp. 10-23). SAGE Publications Ltd, https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446270035.n2
- Ayalon, L., Chasteen, A., Diehl, M., Levy, B. R., Neupert, S. D., Rothermund, K., Tesch-Römer, C., & Wahl, H.W. (2020). Aging in times of the COVID-19 pandemic: Avoiding ageism and fostering intergenerational solidarity. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 76(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbaa051
- Been, F., Emke, E., Matias, J., Baz-Lomba, J. A., Boogaerts, T., Castiglioni, S., Campos-Mañas, M., Celma, A., Covaci, A., de Voogt, P., Hernández, F., Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., Laak, T., Reid, M., Salgueiro-González, N., Steenbeek, R., van Nuijs, A. L. N., Zuccato, E., & Bijlsma, L. (2021). Changes in drug use in European cities during early COVID-19 lockdowns A snapshot from wastewater analysis. *Environment International*, *153*, 106540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106540
- Bidzan-Bluma, I., Bidzan, M., Jurek, P., Bidzan, L., Knietzsch, J., Stueck, M., & Bidzan, M. (2020). A Polish and German population study of quality of life, well-being, and life satisfaction in older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.585813
- Bressington, D. T., Cheung, T. C., Lam, S. C., Suen, L. K., Fong, T. K., Ho, H. S., & Xiang, Y.T. (2020). Association between depression, health beliefs, and face mask use during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.571179
- Caycho-Rodríguez, T., Tomás, J. M., Barboza-Palomino, M., Ventura-León, J., Gallegos, M., Reyes-Bossio, M., & Vilca, L. W. (2021). Assessment of fear of Covid-19 in older adults: Validation of the fear of Covid-19 Scale. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 20(2), 1231–1245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00438-2
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Prevent getting sick*. Retrieved February 9, 2022, from https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/index.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, August 4). *Older adults risks and vaccine information*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved May 27, 2022, from https://www.cdc.gov/aging/covid19/covid19-older-adults.html?CDC\_AA\_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fneed-extra-precautions%2Folder-adults.html
- Chatterjee, K., & Chauhan, V. S. (2020). Epidemics, quarantine and mental health. *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*, 76(2), 125–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mjafi.2020.03.017
- Church, A. T., Anderson-Harumi, C. A., del Prado, A. M., Curtis, G. J., Tanaka-Matsumi, J., Valdez Medina, J. L., Mastor, K. A., White, F. A., Miramontes, L. A., & Katigbak, M. S. (2008). Culture, cross-role consistency, and adjustment: Testing trait and cultural psychology perspectives. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *95*(3), 739–755. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.95.3.739
- Cost, K. T., Crosbie, J., Anagnostou, E., Birken, C. S., Charach, A., Monga, S., Kelley, E., Nicolson, R., Maguire, J. L., Burton, C. L., Schachar, R. J., Arnold, P. D., & Korczak, D. J. (2021). Mostly worse, occasionally better: Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31(4), 671–684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01744-3
- Czeisler, M. É., Lane, R. I., Petrosky, E., Wiley, J. F., Christensen, A., Njai, R., Weaver, M. D., Robbins, R., Facer-Childs, E. R., Barger, L. K., Czeisler, C. A., Howard, M. E., & Rajaratnam, S. M. W. (2020). Mental health, substance use, and suicidal ideation during the COVID-19 pandemic United States, June 24-30, 2020. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 69(32), 1049-1057. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6932a1
- Denerel, N., Şenışık, S., Köyağasıoğlu, O., Çiğdem, S., & Tunç, S. (2021). Effects of long-duration home isolation linked to the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health of adolescent athletes. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, *33*(4), 170–176. https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.2020-0164
- Di Tella, M., Romeo, A., Benfante, A., & Castelli, L. (2020). Mental health of healthcare workers during the covid -19 pandemic in Italy. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, *26*(6), 1583–1587. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.13444
- Dziedzic, B., Idzik, A., Kobos, E., Sienkiewicz, Z., Kryczka, T., Fidecki, W., & Wysokiński, M. (2021). Loneliness and mental health among the elderly in Poland during the Covid-19 pandemic. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12029-4
- Edmonds, A. W., & Kennedy, T. D. (2017). Phenomenological perspective. *An Applied Guide to Research Designs: Quantitative, Qualitative, and Mixed Methods*, 168–176. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781071802779.n14
- Fauk, N. K., Ernawati, Dent, E., Asa, G. A., & Ward, P. R. (2022). Impact of covid-19 lockdowns on the activity and mental health of older people in Indonesia: A qualitative

- study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(20), 13115. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192013115
- Favieri, F., Forte, G., Tambelli, R., & Casagrande, M. (2021). The Italians in the time of coronavirus: Psychosocial aspects of the unexpected covid-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.551924
- Flett, G. L., & Heisel, M. J. (2020). Aging and feeling valued versus expendable during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond: A review and commentary of why mattering is fundamental to the health and well-being of older adults. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 19(6), 2443–2469. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00339-4
- Fordyce, C. H., & Smith, G. (2022). older adults share their pandemic experiences. *Generations*, 46(1), 1–5.
- Gabriella Di Santo, S., Franchini, F., Martone, A., Sannino, S., Beltrami, R., Adorni, F., & Caltagirone, C. (2021). The effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and quarantine measures on the lifestyles and mental health of older adults at increased risk of dementia. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 429, 119800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2021.119800
- Giorgi, A., Giorgi, B., & Morley, J. (2017). The descriptive phenomenological psychological method. *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 176–192. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526405555.n11
- Given, L. M. (2008). Codes and coding. In The SAGE encyclopedia of qualitative research methods (pp. 86-88). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909.n48
- Golińska, P. B., Cieślak, M., Hubert, O., & Bidzan, M. (2021). Mental health and the symptoms of PTSD in people with depression and anxiety disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(11), 5542. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18115542
- González-Sanguino, C., Ausín, B., Castellanos, M. Á., Saiz, J., López-Gómez, A., Ugidos, C., & Muñoz, M. (2020). Mental health consequences during the initial stage of the 2020 coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) in Spain. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 87, 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.040
- Guloglu, B. (2022). The relationship between anxiety and perceived social support at the initial stage of Covid-19 Outbreak. *Journal of Psychiatric Nursing*. https://doi.org/10.14744/phd.2021.52386
- Hafstad, G. S., Dyb, G., Jensen, T. K., Steinberg, A. M., & Pynoos, R. S. (2014). PTSD prevalence and symptom structure of DSM-5 criteria in adolescents and young adults surviving the 2011 shooting in Norway. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *169*, 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.06.055

- Haischer, M. H., Beilfuss, R., Hart, M. R., Opielinski, L., Wrucke, D., Zirgaitis, G., Uhrich, T. D., & Hunter, S. K. (2020). Who is wearing a mask? gender-, age-, and location-related differences during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240785
- Hajek, A., & König, H. H. (2021). Frequency of contact with friends and relatives via internet and psychosocial factors in middle-aged and older adults during the Covid-19 pandemic. Findings from the German Ageing Survey. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 37(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5623
- Halliday, E. C., Holt, V., Khan, K., Ward, F., Wheeler, P., & Sadler, G. (2021). 'a lot of small things make a difference' Mental health and strategies of coping during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Expectations*, 25(2), 532–540. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13416
- Han, L., Zhan, Y., Li, W., Xu, Y., Xu, Y., & Zhao, J. (2021). Associations between the perceived severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, cyberchondria, depression, anxiety, stress, and lockdown experience: Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance*, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.2196/31052
- Hanani, A., Badrasawi, M., Zidan, S., & Hunjul, M. (2022). Effect of cognitive behavioral therapy program on mental health status among medical student in Palestine during COVID pandemic. *BMC Psychiatry*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-03915-1
- Hawes, M. T., Szenczy, A. K., Olino, T. M., Nelson, B. D., & Klein, D. N. (2021). Trajectories of depression, anxiety and pandemic experiences: A longitudinal study of youth in New York during the spring-summer of 2020. *Psychiatry Research*, 298, 113778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113778
- Hennein, R., & Lowe, S. (2020). A hybrid inductive-abductive analysis of health workers' experiences and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240646
- Hood, A. M., Stotesbury, H., Murphy, J., Kölbel, M., Slee, A., Springall, C., Paradis, M., Corral-Frías, N. S., Reyes-Aguilar, A., Cuellar Barboza, A. B., Noser, A. E., Gomes, S., Mitchell, M., Watkins, S. M., Butsch Kovacic, M., Kirkham, F. J., & Crosby, L. E. (2021). Attitudes about COVID-19 and health (ATTACH): Online survey and mixed methods study. *JMIR Mental Health 2021*, 8(10), e29963. https://doi.org/10.2196/preprints.29963
- Hosker, C., & Ward, D. (2017). Hypoactive delirium. BMJ. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j2047
- Hou, W. K., Lee, T. M.C., Liang, L., Li, T. W., Liu, H., Tong, H., Ben-Ezra, M., & Goodwin, R. (2021). Psychiatric symptoms and behavioral adjustment during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from two population-representative cohorts. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-021-01279-w

- Huynh, C. V., Phan, H. T., Nguyen, X. T., Thi, K. S., & Chi, V. L. (2022). The impact of Covid-19 on older adults' finances, well-being and fear. *Asean Journal of Psychiatry*, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.54615/2231-7805.47237
- Islam, M. A., Barna, S. D., Raihan, H., Khan, M. N., & Hossain, M. T. (2020). Depression and anxiety among university students during the COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh: A webbased cross-sectional survey. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(8).
- Javed, I., Butt, M. A., & Khalid, S. (2022). Face mask detection and social distance monitoring system for Covid-19 pandemic. https://doi.org/10.36227/techrxiv.20218619.v1
- Jecker, N. S. (2020). You've got a friend in me: Sociable robots for older adults in an age of global pandemics. *Ethics and Information Technology*, *23*(S1), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-020-09546-y
- Jones, C. L., Jensen, J. D., Scherr, C. L., Brown, N. R., Christy, K., & Weaver, J. (2014). The health belief model as an explanatory framework in communication research: Exploring parallel, serial, and moderated mediation. *Health Communication*, *30*(6), 566–576. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2013.873363
- Joseph, C. A., O'Shea, B. Q., Eastman, M. R., Finlay, J. M., & Kobayashi, L. C. (2022). Physical isolation and mental health among older US adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: Longitudinal findings from the COVID-19 coping study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *57*(6), 1273–1282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-022-02248-4
- Kelly, H. (2011). The classical definition of a pandemic is not elusive. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 89(7), 540–541. https://doi.org/10.2471/blt.11.088815
- Kim, S., & Kim, S. (2021). Who is suffering from the "Corona blues"? An analysis of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on depression and its implications for health policy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(23), 12273. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182312273
- Knollman-Porter, K., & Burshnic, V. L. (2020). Optimizing effective communication while wearing a mask during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 46(11), 7–11. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20201012-02
- Koma, W. (2020). *One in four older adults report anxiety or depression amid the COVID-19 pandemic*. KFF. Retreived November 21, 222, from https://www.kff.org/medicare/issuebrief/one-in-four-older-adults-report-anxiety-or-depression-amind-the-covid-19-pandemic/
- Ladhani, S. N. (2021). Children and covid-19 in schools. *Science*, *374*(6568), 680–682. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abj2042

- Lee, J. T., Althomsons, S. P., Wu, H., Budnitz, D. S., Kalayil, E. J., Lindley, M. C., Pingali, C., Bridges, C. B., Geller, A. I., Fiebelkorn, A. P., Graitcer, S. B., Singleton, J. A., & Patel, S. A. (2021). Disparities in COVID-19 Vaccination Coverage Among Health Care Personnel Working in Long-Term Care Facilities, by Job Category, National Healthcare Safety Network United States, March 2021. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 70(30), 1036-1039. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7030a2
- Lee, J. T., Althomsons, S. P., Wu, H., Budnitz, D. S., Kalayil, E. J., Lindley, M. C., Pingali, C., Bridges, C. B., Geller, A. I., Fiebelkorn, A. P., Graitcer, S. B., Singleton, J. A., & Patel, S. A. (2021). Disparities in COVID-19 vaccination coverage among health care personnel working in long-term care facilities, by job category, National Healthcare Safety Network United States, March 2021. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 70*(30), 1036-1039. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7030a2
- Li, Q., Tarimo, C. S., Miao, Y., Zeng, X., Wu, C., & Wu, J. (2021). Effects of mask wearing on anxiety of teachers affected by COVID-19: A large cross-sectional study in China. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *281*, 574-580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.113
- Liu, C. H., Zhang, E., Wong, G. T., Hyun, S., & Hahm, H. "C. (2020). Factors associated with depression, anxiety, and PTSD symptomatology during the COVID-19 pandemic: Clinical implications for U.S. young adult mental health. *Psychiatry Research*, *290*, 113172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113172
- MacDonald, J. J., Baxter-King, R., Vavreck, L., Naeim, A., Wenger, N., Sepucha, K., & Stanton, A. L. (2021). Depressive symptoms and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic: Large, longitudinal, cross-sectional survey. *JMIR Health*, *9*(2), *e33585*. https://doi.org/10.2196/preprints.33585
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *AISHE-J*, *9*, *3351*.
- Marchetti, I., Pössel, P., & Koster, E. H. (2020). The architecture of cognitive vulnerability to depressive symptoms in adolescence: A longitudinal network analysis study. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49(2), 267–281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-020-00733-5
- McKnight-Eily, L. R., Okoro, C. A., Strine, T. W., Verlenden, J., Hollis, N. T. D., Njai, R., Mitchell, E. W., Board, A., Puddy, R., & Thomas, C. (2021). Racial and ethnic disparities in the prevalence of stress and worry, mental health conditions, and increased substance use among adults during the COVID-19 pandemic United States, April and May 2020. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 70(5), 162–166. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7005a3
- Mendoza-Ruvalcaba, N. M., Gutiérrez-Herrera, R., López, C., Hesse, H., Soto-Añari, M., Ramos-Henderson, M., Cárdenas-Valverde, J.-C., Camargo, L., Caldichoury, N., Herrera-

- Pino, J., Calizaya-López, J., Castellanos, C., García, C., Porto, M. F., & López, N. (2022). Impact of quarantine due to Covid-19 pandemic on health and lifestyle conditions in older adults from Centro American countries. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(5).
- Mistry, S. K., Ali, A. R., Hossain, M. B., Yadav, U. N., Ghimire, S., Rahman, M. A., Irfan, N. M., & Huque, R. (2021). Exploring depressive symptoms and its associates among Bangladeshi older adults amid Covid-19 pandemic: Findings from a cross-sectional study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *56*(8), 1487–1497.
- Oliveira, J. M., Butini, L., Pauletto, P., Lehmkuhl, K. M., Stefani, C. M., Bolan, M., Guerra, E., Dick, B., De Luca Canto, G., & Massignan, C. (2022). Mental health effects prevalence in children and adolescents during the Covid-19 pandemic: A systematic review. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, 19(2), 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/wvn.12566
- Ong, A. D., Uchino, B. N., & Wethington, E. (2015). Loneliness and health in older adults: A mini-review and synthesis. *Gerontology*, 62(4), 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1159/000441651
- Parlapani, E., Holeva, V., Nikopoulou, V. A., Sereslis, K., Athanasiadou, M., Godosidis, A., Stephanou, T., & Diakogiannis, I. (2020). Intolerance of uncertainty and loneliness in older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00842
- Pellas, J., Renner, F., Ji, J. L., & Damberg, M. (2021). Telephone-based behavioral activation with mental imagery for depression: A pilot randomized clinical trial in isolated older adults during the Covid-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *37*(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5646
- Planchuelo-Gómez, Á., Odriozola-González, P., Irurtia, M. J., & de Luis-García, R. (2020). Longitudinal evaluation of the psychological impact of the COVID-19 crisis in Spain. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 842–849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.018
- Portegijs, E., Keskinen, K. E., Tuomola, E.M., Hinrichs, T., Saajanaho, M., & Rantanen, T. (2021). Older adults' activity destinations before and during COVID-19 restrictions: From a variety of activities to mostly physical exercise close to home. *Health & Place*, *68*, 102533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2021.102533
- Prather, K. A., Wang, C. C., & Schooley, R. T. (2020). Reducing transmission of SARS-COV-2. *Science*, *368*(6498), 1422–1424. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abc6197
- Rantanen, T., Portegijs, E., Viljanen, A., Eronen, J., Saajanaho, M., Tsai, L.T., Kauppinen, M., Palonen, E.M., Sipilä, S., Iwarsson, S., & Rantakokko, M. (2012). Individual and environmental factors underlying life space of older people Study protocol and design of a cohort study on life-space mobility in old age (LISPE). *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-1018

- Rek, S. V., Bühner, M., Reinhard, M. A., Freeman, D., Keeser, D., Adorjan, K., Falkai, P., & Padberg, F. (2021). The COVID-19 pandemic mental health questionnaire (COPAQ): Psychometric evaluation and compliance with countermeasures in psychiatric inpatients and non-clinical individuals. *BMC Psychiatry*, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03425-6
- Renner, F., Lobbestael, J., Peeters, F., Arntz, A., & Huibers, M. (2012). Early maladaptive schemas in depressed patients: Stability and relation with depressive symptoms over the course of treatment. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *136*(3), 581–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.10.027
- Roy-Byrne, P. (2015). Treatment-refractory anxiety; definition, risk factors, and treatment challenges. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *17*(2), 191–206. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2015.17.2/proybyrne
- Saint, S. A., & Moscovitch, D. A. (2021). Effects of mask-wearing on social anxiety: An exploratory review. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal*, *34*(5). https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2021.1929936
- Scheid, J. L., Lupien, S. P., Ford, G. S., & West, S. L. (2020). Commentary: Physiological and psychological impact of face mask usage during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(18), 6655. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186655
- Schneider, A. B., & Leonard, B. (2021). From anxiety to control: Mask-wearing, perceived marketplace influence, and emotional well-being during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12412
- Seethaler, M., Just, S., Stötzner, P., Bermpohl, F., & Brandl, E. J. (2021). Psychosocial impact of Covid-19 pandemic in elderly psychiatric patients: A longitudinal study. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, *92*(4), 1439–1457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-021-09917-8
- Sharma, V., Reina Ortiz, M., & Sharma, N. (2020). Risk and protective factors for adolescent and young adult mental health within the context of COVID-19: A perspective from Nepal. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(1), 135–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.04.006
- Shestyuk, A. Y., & Deldin, P. J. (2010). Automatic and strategic representation of the self in major depression: Trait and state abnormalities. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *167*(5), 536–544. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.06091444
- Sibal, V. (2021). Locked inside: Senior citizens during pandemic. *Scholedge International Journal of Multidisciplinary & Allied Studies*, 7(9), 176. https://doi.org/10.19085/sijmas070901

- Singh Bhandari, S., Joseph, S. J., Udayasankaran, J. G., Konthoujam, B., Shoib, S., & Dutta, S. (2020). Telepsychiatry: A feasible means to bridge the demand–supply gaps in mental health services during and after the COVID-19 pandemic: Preliminary experiences from Sikkim State of India. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 42(5), 500–502. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620951282
- Skoog, I. (2011). Psychiatric disorders in the elderly. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *56*(7), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371105600702
- Somé, N. H., Wells, S., Felsky, D., Hamilton, H. A., Ali, S., Elton-Marshall, T., & Rehm, J. (2022). Self-reported mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic and its association with alcohol and cannabis use: A latent class analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *22*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-03917-z
- Supriya, M. A., & Kulkarni, N. (2022). Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on mental health of community-dwelling older adults. *36*(1), 142–152.
- Taylor, B., & Francis, K. (2013). *Qualitative research in the health sciences: Methodologies, methods and processes.* Taylor & Francis Group.
- Thematic Analysis. (2021). *YouTube*. Retrieved September 27, 2022, from https://youtu.be/DtfPqcwaIoc.
- Thorpe, R., & Holt, R. (2008). Existential phenomenology. In E. E. Editor & F. F. Editor (Eds.), *The SAGE dictionary of qualitative management* research (Vol. 1, pp. 94-95). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9780857020109.n43
- Tiete, J., Guatteri, M., Lachaux, A., Matossian, A., Hougardy, J.-M., Loas, G., & Rotsaert, M. (2021). Mental health outcomes in healthcare workers in COVID-19 and Non-covid-19 Care Units: A cross-sectional survey in Belgium. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.612241
- To, Q. G., Vandelanotte, C., Cope, K., Khalesi, S., Williams, S. L., Alley, S. J., Thwaite, T. L., Fenning, A. S., & Stanton, R. (2022). The association of resilience with depression, anxiety, stress and physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-12911-9
- Tomaszek, K., & Muchacka-Cymerman, A. (2020). Thinking about my existence during COVID-19, I feel anxiety and awe The mediating role of existential anxiety and life satisfaction on the relationship between PTSD symptoms and post-traumatic growth. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(19), 7062. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17197062
- Tracy, E. L., Chin, B., Lehrer, H. M., Carroll, L. W., Buysse, D. J., & Hall, M. H. (2022). Coping strategies moderate the effect of perceived stress on sleep and health in older adults

- during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Stress and Health*, *38*(4), 708–721. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.3124
- Twenge, J. M., & Joiner, T. E. (2020). U.S. Census Bureau-assessed prevalence of anxiety and depressive symptoms in 2019 and during the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic. *Depression and Anxiety*, *37*(10), 954–956. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.23077
- United States. (2020)\*\* Worldometer. Retrieved February 9, 2022, from https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/country/us/
- Vahratian, A., Blumberg, S. J., Terlizzi, E. P., & Schiller, J. S. (2021). Symptoms of anxiety or depressive disorder and use of mental health care among adults during the COVID-19 pandemic United States, August 2020–February 2021. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 70(13), 490–494. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7013e2
- Wang, H. (2020). Delirium: A suggestive sign of COVID-19 in dementia. *EClinicalMedicine*, 26, 100524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100524
- Wang, C., Pan, R., Wan, X., Tan, Y., Xu, L., McIntyre, R. S., Choo, F. N., Tran, B., Ho, R., Sharma, V. K., & Ho, C. (2020). A longitudinal study on the mental health of general population during the covid-19 epidemic in China. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 87, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.028
- Wang, C., Tee, M., Roy, A. E., Fardin, M. A., Srichokchatchawan, W., Habib, H. A., Tran, B. X., Hussain, S., Hoang, M. T., Le, X. T., Ma, W., Pham, H. Q., Shirazi, M., Taneepanichskul, N., Tan, Y., Tee, C., Xu, L., Xu, Z., Vu, G. T., ... Kuruchittham, V. (2021). The impact of covid-19 pandemic on physical and Mental Health of Asians: A study of seven middle-income countries in Asia. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246824
- Webb, L. M., & Chen, C. Y. (2021). The COVID-19 pandemics impact on older adults mental health: Contributing factors, coping strategies, and opportunities for improvement. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *37*(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5647
- Wierenga, K. L., Moore, S. E., Pressler, S. J., Hacker, E. D., & Perkins, S. M. (2021). Associations between COVID-19 perceptions, anxiety, and depressive symptoms among adults living in the United States. *Nursing Outlook*, *69*(5), 755–766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2021.03.020
- World Health Organization. (2019). Dementia: Fact sheet. http://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia
- World Health Organization. (2020). *WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 11 March 2020*. World Health Organization. Retrieved February 9, 2022, from https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020

- World Health Organization. (2022). *Covid-19 advice physical distancing* | *WHO Western Pacific*. World Health Organization. Retrieved October 28, 2022, from https://www.who.int/westernpacific/emergencies/covid-19/information/physical-distancing
- Xiang, M., Zhang, Z., & Kuwahara, K. (2020). Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on children and adolescents lifestyle behavior larger than expected. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 63(4), 531–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2020.04.013
- Xu, Q., Mao, Z., Wei, D., Fan, K., Liu, P., Wang, J., Wang, X., Lou, X., Lin, H., Wang, C., & Wu, C. (2022). Association between mask wearing and anxiety symptoms during the outbreak of Covid 19: A large survey among 386,432 junior and senior high school students in China. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *153*, 110709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2021.110709
- Yıldırım, H. (2021). Psychosocial status of older adults aged 65 years and over during lockdown in Turkey and their perspectives on the outbreak. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 30(3), 899–907. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13542
- Yu, C. C., Tou, N. X., & Low, J. A. (2022). A comparative study on mental health and adaptability between older and younger adults during the Covid-19 circuit breaker in Singapore. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-12857-y
- Zanon, C., Brenner, R. E., Baptista, M. N., Vogel, D. L., Rubin, M., Al-Darmaki, F. R., Gonçalves, M., Heath, P. J., Liao, H.-Y., Mackenzie, C. S., Topkaya, N., Wade, N. G., & Zlati, A. (2020). Examining the dimensionality, reliability, and invariance of the Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale–21 (DASS-21) across eight countries. *Assessment*, 28(6), 1531–1544. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191119887449
- Zhang, J., Wu, W., Zhao, X., & Zhang, W. (2020). Recommended psychological crisis intervention response to the 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia outbreak in China: A model of west China hospital. *Precision Clinical Medicine*, *3*(1), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcmedi/pbaa006